THE EFFECT OF ATORVASTATIN LOADED APTAMER CONJUGATED SILICA NANOPARTICLES ON ANTI-INFLAMMATORY SIGNALING PATHWAY IN HUVECs

by Nazlı Ataş

Submitted to Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Biotechnology

Yeditepe University 2019

THE EFFECT OF ATORVASTATIN LOADED APTAMER CONJUGATED SILICA NANOPARTICLES ON ANTI-INFLAMMATORY SIGNALING PATHWAY IN HUVECs

APPROVED BY:

Assist. Prof. Dr. Bilge Güvenç Tuna (Thesis Supervisor) (Yeditepe University)

Assist. Prof. Dr. Gülengül Duman (Yeditepe University)

Assist. Prof. Dr. Pınar Buket Atalay (Maltepe University)

DATE OF APPROVAL:/2019

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to say my deepest thank you to my supervisor Asst. Prof. Bilge Güvenç TUNA who always has been a supporter and aid during my master's study. I am so honored to study in her research that provided me to have excellent experiences for my future career. I also would like to thank to my co-supervisor Assoc. Prof. Soner DOĞAN who always shared his experiences with me for my experiments and motivated me.

I would like to thank to specially Assoc. Prof. Veli Cengiz ÖZALP and Dr. Samet UÇAK who synthesized nanoparticles.

I would like to thank to my lab partners especially Burcu, Göktuğ, Ümit and interns for their help, motivation and supports. You all have a significant effect on my master's degree.

My gratitude is to my very beautiful and special family; my mother, my father, my sister and my brothers. Especially, I would like to thank my brother Mahmut ATAŞ for sharing his painting talent and drawing two of the figures (Figure 1.1 and Figure 1.3) of my thesis. I am so lucky to have my family who always support and motivate me with their uninterruptible love.

Finally, I would like to thank many times to my husband Nihat Atak who always motivated me and made me happy with his beautiful love during my master's degree. I am very lucky to have him in my life.

This project is supported by TUBİTAK (Project number 115S233).

ABSTRACT

THE EFFECT OF ATORVASTATIN LOADED APTAMER CONJUGATED SILICA NANOPARTICLES ON ANTI-INFLAMMATORY SIGNALING PATHWAY IN HUVECs

In worldwide, cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are first causes of death and affecting millions of humans. Atherosclerosis is a type of chronic inflammatory disease that limits flowing of high oxygen contain blood to organs. Progress of atherosclerosis may result in heart attack and stroke. Drug therapy still is not available to date that directly target and suppress the molecular mechanisms of inflammation. In current clinical practice, only few therapies such as statin and aspirin are effectively diminishing the cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis. However, only 30 to 40 percent of the patients give positive feedback to these treatment strategies. Therefore, it is important to develop the safe delivery of drug administration to the disease region. Statins are 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors that prevent production of LDL inside liver. Besides to cholesterol reducing effect of statin, they have various pleiotropic effects in this way they act as vascular protective. This study aim was to evaluate therapeutic efficiency of atorvastatin loaded targeted and controlled release system compared to only atorvastatin via p-Akt/eNOS activation pathway in endothelial cells. For this reason, ICAM-1 specific Aptamer conjugated Atorvastatin encapsulated mesoporous silica nanoparticles (ICAM-1 APT-Atorv MCM41) was developed. HUVEC stimulated six hours with TNF- α for then incubated with Atorvastatin and ICAM-1 APT-Atorv MCM41 for 24 hours. mRNA expression of eNOS and protein levels of eNOS and p-Akt and were observed with RT-PCR and Western blot methods. This study results indicated that targeted delivery of atorvastatin increased eNOS and p-Akt (Ser473) expression level. In conclusion, ICAM-1 Aptamer conjugated atorvastatin encapsulated MCM-41 nanoparticle drug delivery system may provide new candidate approach for preventing atherosclerosis.

ÖZET

APTAMER BAĞLI ATORVASTATIN YÜKLÜ SİLİKA NANOPARTİKÜL SİSTEMİNİN HUVEC HÜCRELERİNDE İNFLAMASYON KARŞITI SİNYAL YOLAĞINA ETKİSİ

Dünya genelinde kardiyovasküler hastalıklar ölüm nedenleri arasında birinci sıradadır ve milyonlarca insanı etkilemektedir. Ateroskleroz, oksijen bakımından zengin kanın organlara akışını sınırlayan kronik enflamatuar hastalıktır. Aterosklerozun ilerlemesi kalp krizi ve/veya inme ile sonuclanabilir. Enflamasyonun moleküler mekanizmasını doğrudan hedef alan ve baskılayan hiçbir ilaç tedavisi bulunmamaktadır. Mevcut klinik uygulamada, statin ve aspirin gibi sadece birkaç tedavi ateroskleroz gibi kardiyovasküler hastalıkları etkin bir şekilde azaltır. Bununla birlikte, yüzde 30 ila 40'ı bu tedavi stratejilerine olumlu geribildirim veriyor. Bu nedenle, ilaç uygulamasının hastalık bölgesine güvenli bir şekilde verilmesini geliştirmek önemlidir. Statinler karaciğer de LDL üretimini inhibe eden 3hidroksi-3-metilglutaril-koenzim A (HMG-CoA) redüktaz inhibitörlerdir. Kolesterol düşürücü etiklerine ek olarak, damar koruyucu pleiotropik etkilere sahiptir. Bu çalışmanın amacı, endotel hücrelerinde atorvastatin ilacının en önemli pleitropik etkisini, p-Akt/eNOS aktivasyon yolu, gözlemleyerek atorvastatinin hedefli ve kontrollü salım sistemi yoluyla terapötik etkinliğini değerlendirmektir. Bu nedenle ICAM-1 hedefli aptamer konjuge edilmiş atorvastatin kapsüllenmiş mesoporous silica nanoparçacıkları geliştirildi (ICAM-1 Aptamer-Atorv-MCM41). HUVEC hücreleri altı saat boyunca TNF-α ile ön işleme tabi tutuldu, daha sonra 24 saat boyunca Atorvastatin ve ICAM-1 Aptamer-Atorv-MCM41 ile inkübe edildi. eNOS ve p-Akt (Ser473) mRNA ekspresyonu ve protein seviyeleri RT-PCR ve Western blot yöntemleri ile belirlendi. Sonuçlara göre, atorvastatin ilacının hedefli ve kontrollü salım sistemi ile eNOS ve p-Akt (Ser473) ekspresyonunu artırdığını gösterdi. Sonuç olarak, ICAM-1 aptamer konjuge edilmiş atorvastatin kapsüllenmiş MCM41 hedefli ilaç dağılım sistemi aterosklerozun önlenmesi için yeni aday yaklaşım sağlayabilir.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| iii |
|------|
| iv |
| v |
| viii |
| x |
| xi |
| 1 |
| 1 |
| 1 |
| 2 |
| 7 |
| 7 |
| 9 |
| 11 |
| 13 |
| 15 |
| 20 |
| 21 |
| 26 |
| 28 |
| 32 |
| 32 |
| 32 |
| 33 |
| 34 |
| 35 |
| AND |
| 35 |
| |

| 3.2. TEM ANALYSIS |
|--|
| 3.3. CELL CULTURE |
| 3.4. CYTOTOXIC EFFECT OF MCM-41 SILICA NANOPARTICLE ON HUVEC |
| |
| 3.5. EVALUATING THE ATTACHMENT OF ICAM-1 APTAMER-MCM41 |
| FLUORESCEIN IN HUVEC |
| 3.6. EVALUATING ICAM-1 1NDUCING DOSE OF TNF-ALPHA |
| 3.7. DRUG TREATMENT OF HUVECS |
| 3.8. REAL-TIME PCR |
| 3.8.1. RNA Isolation |
| 3.8.2. cDNA Synthesis and Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction |
| 3.9. WESTERN BLOTTING |
| 3.9.1. Cell Lysis |
| 3.9.2. Detergent Compatible Protein Assay |
| 3.9.3. SDS PAGE |
| 3.10. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS |
| 4. RESULTS |
| 4.1. APT-NP DRUG DELIVERY SYSTEM CHARACTERIZATION |
| 4.1.1. MCM-41 Silica Nanoparticles Cytotoxic Effect on HUVEC42 |
| 4.1.2. In Vitro Attachment of Apt-MCM-41 in HUVEC |
| 4.2. TNF-α INDUCES ICAM-1 mRNA EXPRESSION OF IN HUVEC |
| 4.3. EVALUATING THE EFFECT OF NON-TARGETED AND TARGETED |
| DELIVERY OF ATORVASTATIN IN mRNA EXPRESSION OF eNOS IN PRE |
| TREATED HUVECS4 |
| 4.4. THE EFFECT OF TARGETED AND NON-TARGETED DELIVERY O |
| ATORVASTATIN ON PROTEIN LEVEL OF eNOS AND p-Akt IN PRE-TREATED |
| HUVECS48 |
| 5. DISCUSSION |
| 6. CONCLUSION |
| REFERENCES |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1.1. ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM41. Schematic representation of targeted |
|---|
| Atorvastatin delivery via ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM41 to the inflamed region on artery |
| wall1 |
| |
| Figure 1.2. Blood vessel layers [4]2 |
| Figure 1.3. Schematic representation of layer of artery |
| Figure 1.4. The atherosclerotic process mediated by inflammation [38] |
| Figure 1.5. Shear stress induced changes of pro-inflammation and anti-inflammation signal |
| pathway [60]9 |
| |
| Figure 1.6. The roles of ox-LDL in the of atherosclerotic plaque development [77]11 |
| Figure 1.7. Monocyte and Macrophage characteristics respectively [9] |
| Figure 1.8. Pro-inflammation activation pathway of TNF- α via TNFR1 in damaged |
| endothelial cells [99]15 |
| Figure 1.9. The illustration of coupled and uncoupled NOS [109]16 |
| Figure 1.10. NO production via Ca ²⁺ /Calmodulin [114]17 |
| Figure 1.11. Smooth muscle cell relaxation processes [130] |
| Figure 1.12. Reaction of statin in cholesterol production [137]20 |
| Figure 1.13. Pleiotropic effects of statin drug [140]21 |
| Figure 1.14. Pharmacological and chemical properties of different statin types [142]22 |
| Figure 1.15. Anti-atherosclerotic action of statin in vascular endothelium [166]25 |
| Figure 1.16. An example of MSN modified nanoparticle [201]29 |
| Figure 4.1.Mesoporous silica nanoparticles MCM41 TEM images was shown [213]42 |

| Figure 4.2. Effect of MCM-41 nanoparticles on cell viability of HUVEC compared to |
|---|
| control group treated with 0.5% DMSO (0 µg/ml)43 |
| Figure 4.3. In vitro attachment of ICAM-1 Aptamer-MCM41 Nanoparticle-Fluorescein |
| (Apt-NP-FI) in HUVEC |
| Figure 4.4. Effect of TNF-a on ICAM-1 mRNA expression level compared to control |
| group treated with 0.5% DMSO46 |
| Figure 4.5. Effect of targeted and non-targeted delivery of Atorvastatin on eNOS mRNA |
| expression in TNF-α pre-treated HUVEC48 |
| Figure 4.6. Concentration-dependent manner of eNOS and p-Akt protein level |
| Figure 4.7. Effect of targeted and non-targeted delivery of Atorvastatin on eNOS protein |
| level in 6 h TNF-α pre-treated HUVEC |
| Figure 4.8. Effect of targeted and non-targeted delivery of Atorvastatin on p-Akt protein |
| level in 6 hours TNF-α pre-treated HUVEC51 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1.1.Death distribution according to the 2015-2016 statistics in Turkey [12] | 5 |
|---|----|
| Table 3.1. Experimental groups that were treated with drug | 37 |
| Table 3.2.RT-PCR machine was set up according to these value | |



LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS

| °C | Degree centigrade | | | |
|-------|--------------------------|--|--|--|
| µg/ml | Microgram per milliliter | | | |
| μΜ | Micromolar | | | |

| Akt | Serine/threonine kinase |
|------------------|---|
| BH_4 | Tetrahydrobiopretin |
| BK _{CA} | Calcium-sensitive K channels |
| CAM | Calcium (Ca ²⁺)/Calmodulin |
| CCL2 | C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 |
| CeVD | Cerebrovascular disease |
| cGMP | Cyclic guanosine monophosphate |
| CVD | Cardiovascular disease |
| eNOS | Endothelial nitric oxide synthase |
| ET-1 | Endothelin-1 |
| FAD | Flavin adenine dinucleotide |
| FMN | Flavin mononucleotide |
| GTP | Guanyl triphosphate |
| HAEC | Human aortic endothelial cell |
| HDL | High density lipoprotein |
| HMG-CoA | 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A |
| HRMEC | Human retinal microvascular endothelial cells |
| HSP90 | Heat shock protein 90 |
| HUVEC | Human umbilical vein endothelial cells |
| ICAM-1 | Intercellular adhesion molecule1 |
| IHD | Ishcemic heart disease |
| IL-6 | Interleukin-6 |
| iNOS | Inducible nitric oxide synthase |
| KLF2 | Kruppel like factor2 |

| LDL | Low density lipoprotein |
|---------|---|
| LOX-1 | Lectin-like ox-LDL receptor-1 |
| MCP-1 | Monocyte chemo attarctant protein1 |
| MI | Myocardial infarctiong |
| NADPH | Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate |
| NF-κΒ | Nuclear factor kappa B |
| nNOS | Neuronal bitric oxide synthase |
| NO | Nitric oxide |
| ox-LDL | Oxidized-Low density lipoprotein |
| p-Akt | Phospho-serine/threonine kinase |
| ROS | Reactive oxygen species |
| sGS | Soluble guanyl cyclase |
| SMC | Smooth muscle cells |
| TNFR-1 | TNF receptor1 |
| TNFR-2 | TNF receptor2 |
| TNF-α | Tumor necrosis factor-a |
| VCAM-1 | Vascular cellular adhesion molecule1 |
| VLA-4 | Very late antigen4 |
| WHO | World health organization |
| ZnS_4 | Zinc-thiolate cluster |
| | |

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. AIM OF THE STUDY

In this study, the aim was to show the pleiotropic effect of Atorvastatin, statin type of drug, on atherosclerosis via a novel targeted and controlled release drug delivery system. For this purpose, ICAM-1 specific Aptamer conjugated Atorvastatin encapsulated mesoporous silica nanoparticles (ICAM-1 APT-Atorv MCM41) were synthesized and its efficacy was tested on TNF- α stimulated human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) which mimics the pre-atherosclerotic phase in cell culture. Therapeutic efficacy of targeted and controlled release of Atorvastatin was determined by evaluating the level of eNOS and p-Akt at mRNA and protein level.



Figure 1.1. ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM41. Schematic representation of targeted Atorvastatin delivery via ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM41 to the inflamed region on artery wall. The release and concentration of Atorvastatin in pre-atherosclerotic region will be controlled by ICAM-1 aptamer gates.

1.2. STRUCTURE OF ARTERY

Circulatory system which is a distribution network of the body is mainly composed of blood vessels. The arteries, capillaries and veins are three different types of blood vessels categorized according to their function and structure. The type of largest of all blood vessels is arteries deliver blood from the heart out to all parts of body. They are also responsible for carrying out foodstuff to all cells and removal of carbon dioxide and biproducts which are secreted by cells. Except pulmonary which carry deoxygenated blood from heart to lungs, most arteries carry oxygen rich blood in system. During heart contractions blood inside ventricles is pumped into the large elastic arteries which branch to smallest arteries which are called arterioles. Blood inside arterioles is feeded into the capillaries which are connected to the tissues and organs. Then capillaries feed blood into the venules, the little vein and subsequently merge into the largest vein consequently it empties into the heart [1-3].



Figure 1.2. Blood vessel layers [4]

Artery wall consists of three functional layers which are tunica intima (or tunica interna), tunica media and tunica externa (or tunica adventitia). The arterial innermost layer is tunica intima and is lined by smooth muscle tissue epithelium contains endothelial cells. This layer is exposed to hemodynamic force also called shear stress which is employed by flowing blood all the time. Therefore, tunica intima provides a resistance against flowing blood. In this structure, endothelial cells secrets factors that affect the relaxation and/or contraction of smooth muscle cells. These factors secretion depend on the types of shear stress. Specifically, endothelial cells generate nitric oxide (NO) which leads to the relaxation of smooth muscle cells. The arterial wall thickest layer and middle layer is tunica media and consist of both smooth muscle cells and elastic fibers. This layer provides additional support for the vessel and also control the diameter of the artery by smooth muscle constriction. The last part of artery is tunica adventitia, also called as tunica externa is outermost layer of arteries (Figure 1.3). Tunica adventitia, provides mechanical support, comprise of connective tissues including elastic fibers and collagen [1-3].

Arteries play vital roles in cardiovascular system due to their functional properties. Any impairment in normal function or structure of arteries may result in atherosclerosis which may lead to development of severe cardiovascular diseases (CVD) including heart attack and stroke.



Figure 1.3. Schematic representation of layer of artery

1.3. ATHEROSCLERIS

In worldwide, cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are the first reason of deaths and affecting millions of humans. More than 17.3 million people lost their lives due to cardiovascular diseases in 2013 [5]. Most common CVDs are ischemic heart disease (IHD), or coronary artery disease like heart attack and cerebrovascular disease (CeVD) like stroke. Both IHD and CeVD are in the progress of atherosclerosis which is defined as chronic inflammatory disease. 2013 global statistical analyses reported that IHD was first and CeVD was third cause of all deaths which constitute 84.5 percent of cardiovascular deaths [6]. In 2010, ischemic heart disease and stroke contributed the most reasons of the global deaths [7]. In 2012, 17.5 million deaths occurred because of cardiovascular related diseases in worldwide and it is assumed to raise to 23.3 million by 2030 [8, 9]. According to the world health organization (WHO) reports, an estimate of 17.5 million deaths per annual which composed 31 percent of global deaths occur due to atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease [10]. American Heart Association statistics show that CVD causes nearly 836,546 deaths in U.S and this is account 1 of every 3 deaths. 92.1 million American people live with CVD. In Europe, 1.92 million deaths are reported due to CVD every year [11]. According to TEKHARF studies CVD is leading causes of deaths in Turkey (Table 1.1) [12]. In Turkey, CVD is the most leading reason of mortality with 34 percent and also 2016 WHO reports showed that 407.300 people died due to CVD [13-16]. In addition, it is indicated that death rate from CVD is high and increases each year in Turkey [15]. According to report of Turkish Society of Cardiology, in 2010 IHD was the number one causes of death with 1.8 million and followed by CeVD with 1.2 million in Turkey. In addition, they reported that estimated 3.4 million people were suffered from IHD and CeVD in 2016 and this is expected to increase to 5.4 million by 2035 [17]. In 2016, percent deaths from IHD and CeVD were 40.5 percent and 23.6 percent respectively in Turkey (Table 1.1.). In addition, according to 2017WHO report 81,029 people (108.59 per 100,000 of population) died from coronary heart disease in Turkey [18]. This was equal to about 20.34 percent of total deaths in Turkey in 2017. Recent literature reports that CVD mainly progresses of atherosclerosis is expected to raise even at greater rates in the future [19].

| | 2015 | | 2016 | | |
|------------------------------------|---------|-------|---------|-------|--|
| | Number | % | Number | % | |
| Diseases of the circulatory system | 159,194 | 100.0 | 162,876 | 100.0 | |
| Ischemic heart diseases | 64,692 | 40.6 | 65,897 | 40.5 | |
| Cerebrovascular diseases | 38,648 | 24,3 | 38,395 | 23.6 | |
| Other heart diseases | 32,411 | 20.4 | 36,317 | 22.3 | |
| Hypertensive diseases | 15,446 | 9.7 | 14,369 | 8.8 | |
| Other | 7997 | 5.0 | 7898 | 4.8 | |

Table 1.1.Death distribution according to the 2015-2016 statistics in Turkey [12]

Atherosclerosis is a type of chronic inflammatory disease that development of plaque is occurred inside vessel wall and therefore arteries become narrowed and toughened which limits flowing of highly oxygen contain blood to organs. In Greek "athero" means gruel which is accumulation of lipid and "scleros" meaning hardening which means that artery wall gets thicker and thus elasticity of artery is damaged [20].

Atherosclerotic plaque forms when endothelial cell layer exposed to types of systemic risk factors such as diabetes, smoking high blood pressure, hyperlipidemia (abnormally high level of lipid in blood), genetic inclination, and unhealthy diet. Additionally, exposing of endothelial cells to hemodynamic force involving shear stress such as low and oscillating shear stress which is generated by flowing blood is a local type risk factor and has essential role in the development of atherosclerosis [21-24]. When endothelial cells are injured by systemic risk factors and/or local risk factors, endothelial cells barrier weakens that causes to the permeability of low density lipoprotein (LDL) [25, 26]. After infiltration of LDL to the intima region of artery oxidation of LDL is carried out by reactive oxygen species (ROS) [27, 28]. Oxidized-LDL (ox-LDL) give rise to the releasing of monocyte chemo attractant protein (MCP-1) by stimulated endothelial cells which signals monocytes to attract the dysfunctional endothelial region [29, 30]. ox-LDL also triggers pro-inflammatory genes expression and increasing endothelial cells permeability [31]. At this

point, monocyte transmigrates into the intima and start to eat and digest ox-LDL. This process initiates inflammation and defined as pre-atherosclerotic phase. Following, ox-LDL leads to monocyte differentiation into macrophages which releases the tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) which induces adhesion molecules expression such as intercellular adhesion molecules-1 (ICAM-1), vascular cellular adhesion molecules-1 (VCAM-1), selectins (E-selectin and P-selectin) by endothelial cells and also flux of leukocytes into inflamed region [32-35]. These adhesion molecules permit to adherence of more monocytes to the adhesion molecules on endothelial cells and migration to the tunica intima region [36]. Macrophages laden with ox-LDL changes into foam cells which accumulate and form plaque [30]. Smooth muscle cells (SMCs) proliferate due to cytokines secreted by foam cells. Then, SMCs move from tunica media to the surface of the plaque results in formation of fibrous cap, covered by collagen and SMCs (Figure 1.4.) [24, 37]. The plaque size increases resulting in thickened and hardened of the arterial wall. Over time rupturing of unstable fibrous plaque might triggers formation of thrombosis (clot) by activate platelets on the endothelial surface [26]. At the end, formation of blood clot blocks the flowing of blood and limited blood supplies available in the surrounding area. Thus, neighboring tissue deaths and consequently might result in heart attack [31].



Figure 1.4. The atherosclerotic process mediated by inflammation [38]

1.3.1. Risk Factors of Inflammation

Atherosclerosis is also characterized as chronic inflammation [39]. There are many significant risk factors at molecular level that take part in the initiation of inflammation such as variations in shear stress, stimulation of adhesion molecules, accumulation of immune cells, increased level of LDL and cytokines like TNF- α .

1.3.1.1. Variations of Shear Stress and Adhesion Molecules Expression

Endothelial cells all the time expose to hemodynamic forces which is also known as shear stress caused by flowing blood inside artery. Endothelial cells convert mechanical stimuli due to blood shear stress into biological signals to control artery function [40-43]. As a result, protein and gene expression level and endothelial cells structure change. In static conditions endothelial cells shapes are cobblestone-like however in laminar flow conditions elongation and align of actins filaments, build up cytoskeleton structure of endothelial cells, in the direction of flow is happened [42, 44, 45]. However, endothelial cells that expose to oscillatory shear stress are randomly oriented and cells are polygonal [46]. Disturbed flows like oscillating and low shear stress are shown as pro-inflammatory type of shear stress and they are mostly found in the branches and bifurcations of artery [40, 47].

In vivo, normally endothelial cells are adapted to laminar shear stress at the range of 5-20 dyne/cm² [48]. Laminar shear stress which is relatively high is anti-inflammatory in other words it is protective flow type against atherosclerosis. The previous studies reported that laminar shear stress is protective against atherosclerosis by stimulating the expression of specific genes including eNOS [49]. eNOS release nitric oxide (NO) inhibits inflammation and protects endothelial barrier [50]. However, eNOS expression is inhibited by disturbed flow [49]. Inhibition of eNOS is hallmark of endothelial dysfunction and this condition is known as the beginning step of atherosclerosis. Guo et al. observed that laminar shear stress type leaded to enhance eNOS expression and decreased endothelin-1 (ET-1) which has significant role in atherosclerosis development [49]. Dong et al. determined that low shear stress caused to stimulate autophagy and apoptosis involve in the atherosclerotic development [51]. Nam et al. studied partial ligation artery in mouse model to characterize

low and oscillatory shear stress and in this study result endothelial dysfunction, rapid induction of atherosclerosis and pro-atherogenic genes expression were observed [52]. Wang et al. demonstrated that expression of endothelial protective protein kruppel like factor-2 (KLF2) was down-regulated by oscillating shear stress (0.5 ± 4 dyne/cm²) [53]. Leukocytes are able to attach inflamed endothelial cell under shear stress range of 1-6 dyne/cm² [54].

The disturbed shear stress, occurred by flowing blood, has important role in the initial step of atherosclerotic lesion. Types of adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1, VCAM-1 are upregulated at the sites where atherosclerotic plaques develop [55]. Exposing of endothelial cells to unstable shear stress like low or oscillating result in endothelial dysfunction by stimulating ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin. ICAM-1 is expressed on endothelial cells. ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin which are shown as markers of atherosclerosis are expressed via nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) dependent pathway in result of disturbed shear stress (Figure 1.5) [56]. In addition, disturbed shear stress induces up-regulation of MCP-1 and TNF- α , pro-inflammatory cytokines [57]. The disturbed flow following adhesion molecules expression play significant roles and it is adequate in the initiating of inflammation process, leukocyte-endothelial cell interaction. Ishibazawa et al. observed pro-inflammatory genes expression, ICAM-1 and VACM-1 in human retinal microvascular endothelial cells (HRMECs) at low shear stress (1.5 dyne/cm²) [58]. Chappell et al. observed enhancement in the level of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 molecules expression at the prolonged oscillating shear stress (\pm 5 dyne/cm²) [59]. All these studies showed that adhesion molecules might be a good target for drug delivery systems for the prevention of early atherogenic lesions.





1.3.1.2. Low Density Lipoprotein

LDL which is also known as type of bad cholesterol is another risk factor in early process of atherosclerosis. Damages in endothelial barrier lead to migration of LDL [61]. Cholesterols are fat molecules and because of their water insoluble properties they are carried in blood with combination of certain proteins. These protein and fat combination are called lipoproteins and produced in liver. LDL is one of the lipoproteins which transport cholesterol from liver to cells whereas HDL (high density lipoprotein) that is also called as good cholesterol transport cholesterol back to the liver for ejecting from body. For this reason, if the level of LDL is over than the level of unmanageable amount, LDL constitutes a risk factor for artery where LDL accumulates under intima (Figure 1.8) [62]. After accumulation of LDLs under the artery wall they are oxidized by reactive oxygen species. Uptake of ox-LDLs by monocyte-derived macrophages is described as the early phase of atherosclerosis [63]. Ox-LDL is a cytokine stimulate monocytes differentiate to macrophages, induces the generation of macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) by endothelial cells [64]. Ox-LDL ingested macrophages accumulate and form foam cells. This aggregation leads to formation of the atherosclerotic plague [65]. Additionally, ox-LDL plays important role in increasing expression of MCP-1 receptor which is monocyte receptor. MCP-1 expression is done by endothelial cells and monocytes. MCP-1 stimulates monocytes to migrate and attach damaged endothelial region (Figure 1.8) [66]. Moreover, Zhang et al. determined that ox-LDL not only reduce the proliferation of endothelial cells but also conduce to ROS overproduction [67]. Studies reported that oxidation of LDL in intima leads to adhesion molecules expression and ROS production. Cominacini et al. reported that intracellular ROS production in aortic endothelial cells was increased by ox-LDL [68]. ROS stimulate apoptotic related genes expression such as Bcl-2 which roles as anti-apoptotic and Bax which roles as pro-apoptotic. Ahsan et al. showed that apoptosis increased in HUVEC treated with ox-LDL and also ROS production was observed higher in ox-LDL injured HUVEC [69]. Khan et al. determined that ox-LDL enhanced ICAM-1 expression in HAEC (human aortic endothelial cells) which was activated by TNF- α [70]. Di et al. observed highly VCAM-1 and E-selectin expression in ox-LDL injured HUVEC whereas level of eNOS reduced [29].

Su et al. also demonstrated increment in ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin expression in HAEC treated with ox-LDL [71]. ox-LDL damages relaxation of endothelial cells by reducing the NO synthase [72]. ox-LDL causes the increasing of asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) which has role to inhibit L-arginine binding to eNOS resulting in O_2^- production increase and NO decrease [73]. LOX-1 is main receptor of ox-LDL and responsible for LDL uptake by endothelial cells and has a role in induction of ROS production [27, 74, 75]. The expression of LOX-1 is also occurred in macrophages and smooth muscle cells [76].

All these previous studies have implicated that ox-LDL has priority role in atherosclerosis development mechanism. These pro-inflammation features of LDL show that reducing accumulation of LDL in artery wall might be a possible therapeutic candidate for preventing atherosclerosis.



Figure 1.6. The roles of ox-LDL in the of atherosclerotic plaque development [77]

1.3.1.3. Monocytes

Monocytes play crucial roles in the initial step and progression of atherosclerosis. Monocytes are part of innate immunity that produced by hematopoietic stem cells which are in bone marrow and they have short half live (1-2 days) in circulation [78]. Accumulation of monocytes in damaged endothelial area is a risk factor in initial step of atherosclerosis process against inflammatory signal. This signal leads to monocytes migration to inflamed region and by attaching over-expressed adhesion molecules on endothelial cells they transmigrate into the intima region where then monocytes are transformed into macrophages. Macrophages phagocytose ox-LDL via lectin-like ox-LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1). After this process inflammatory macrophages form foam cells and then initiate formation of plaque [24, 79, 80]. Bekkering et al. determined that even low ox-LDL concentration leads to induction of pro-inflammatory phenotype of monocytes which speed up formation of atherosclerosis [81].

In humans, monocytes are classified into three subsets according to the surface markers expression the like cluster of differentiation 14 (CD14) which is lipopolysaccharide (LPS) receptor antigen and CD16 which is IgG Fc γ receptor. CD14⁺⁺CD16⁻ monocyte is the classical monocyte and it is classified according to high expression level of CD14 and no

expression of CD16 surface receptor. CD14⁺CD16⁺⁺ monocyte is non-classical monocyte and it is classified according to low expression level of CD14 and high level of CD16 receptor (Figure 1.6). CD14⁺⁺CD16⁺ is intermediate monocyte and CD14 expression is high whereas expression of CD16 is low. By depending on cell adhesion molecules and chemokine receptors these three types of monocytes have been reported to behave substantially different. 80-95 per cent of total circulating monocytes are consisted by classical monocytes (CD14⁺⁺ CD16⁻) which release interleukin-10 (IL-10) against to LDL and express high levels of MCP-1 receptor which is also called as C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2). Increased level of MCP-1 during inflammatory processes and due to high level of receptor of this protein, classical monocyte is the main monocyte subtype that involves in atheromatous plaque. Intermediate monocyte, CD14⁺⁺CD16⁺, release interleukin-1β (IL-1β) and TNF-α in reaction to ox-LDL [9, 78].

 β 2 integrins like LFA-1 and Mac-1 which are also known as respectively CD11a/CD18 and CD11b/CD18 are expressed by monocytes. These integrins bind to ICAM-1. In addition, α 4 β 2integrin which is also called as very late antigen (VLA-4) bind to VCAM-1 (Figure 1.6) [30].

Chemokines such as MCP-1 is produced by damaged endothelial cells and that MCP-1 reacts with its receptor CCL2 that highly expressed on monocyte and leads to recruitment of monocytes to inflamed area. Therefore blocking these chemokines to prevent monocytes migration to damaged endothelial cells might be another way for repressing of atherosclerotic plaque development [82].

In atherosclerotic plaque, the strongest chemokine sources are monocytes-derived macrophages. Macrophages show up-regulation in expression level of CCL2 (CCR2 in mouse) which encode MCP-1 that signals monocytes to recruit activated endothelial cells [36]. There are two phenotype of macrophages. M1 is referred pro-inflammatory macrophages and have significant role in progressing plaque additionally. M1 macrophages leads to induction in pro-inflammatory cytokines expression level like TNF- α , interleukin-6 (IL-6) [83]. However, M2 is regarded anti-inflammatory macrophages and is enriched in regressing plaque [30]. In contrast to M1, M2 macrophages have roles in tissue healing and renewal (repair) [83].



Figure 1.7. (a) Monocyte and (b) Macrophage characteristics [9]

Recruitment of monocytes is main reason to promote developing of inflammation processes by express cytokines and chemokines. Monocytes attach ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on inflamed endothelial cells via VLA-4 [80, 84]. Monocyte migration to inflamed region is carried out by chemokines which are released by activated endothelial cells and react receptors on monocytes [82].

1.3.1.4. TNF-alpha

TNF- α , is produced 27kDa molecular mass as homotrimer, is cell signaling protein that mainly produced by macrophages and comprise in inflammation. TNF- α has two receptors on cells which are TNF receptor type 1 (TNF1) is a 55kDa and TNF receptor type 2 (TNFR2) is 75kDa. Expression of TNFR1 is present in most of tissues that both membrane-bound and soluble trimeric form of TNF- α can fully active this receptor.

However, expression of TNFR2 is occurred in immune cells and its can be act by membrane-bound form of TNF- α . TNFR1 mediate not only pro-inflammatory but also programmed cell death pathways. It is not well characterized but TNF2 has role in tissue repair and angiogenesis [85]. TNF- α act highly as a pro-inflammatory cytokine and plays

role in the induction of apoptosis and necrosis via TNFR1 [86]. TNF- α is regarded as one of the most significant regulative factors for the generation of cytokines that promote progress of inflammation [87]. Multiple endothelial genes like ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin involvement in the development of atherosclerotic plaque are induced by TNF- α via NF- α B is suggested as pro-atherosclerotic risk factor (Figure 1.7) [33, 88]. MCP-1 and IL-6 chemokines are increased by TNF- α . Salkowski et al. observed that lipopolysaccharide induced iNOS mRNA expression was regulated and induced by TNFR1 signaling pathway in macrophages [89]. Additionally, TNF- α causes oxidative stress by stimulating production of ROS [90].

TNF- α has an important role in increasing raid of leukocytes to inflammation side of artery wall [35]. Beside to the attraction of leukocyte to inflamed tissue, TNF- α up-regulates cells surface adhesion molecules expression. For instance, ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin are stimulated by TNF- α while it is also inducing NF- β B [91-93]. In this context, Yan et al. observed that TNF- α significantly increased expression level of VCAM-1compared to control group [94]. Zhao et al. demonstrated that TNF- α up-regulated expression of pro-inflammatory ICAM-1 adhesion molecule [95]. Several studies showed that TNF- α increased ICAM-1 expression by binding TNFR1 on cell surface and activating NF- β B (Figure 1.7) [96]. Han et al. observed that monocytes adhesion and ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin expression were increased in HUVECs treated with TNF- α [97]. Li et al. was also showed that ICAM-1 and also VCAM-1 adhesion molecules were increased in TNF- α induced HUVECs [98].

All these studies are suggested that TNF- α is another important risk factor in the initiation of atherosclerosis.



Figure 1.8. Pro-inflammation activation pathway of TNF-α via TNFR1 in damaged endothelial cells [99].

1.4. ENDOTHELIAL NITRIC OXIDE SYNTASE

Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), a homodimer, is one of the three isoforms of NOS III enzyme and it is the most important regulator of vascular homeostasis [100]. The other isoforms are inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) which promote inflammation and neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) which is expressed by neurons in brain [101, 102]. eNOS is consisted by two identical monomers that associate to take form 133kDa eNOS dimer [103]. The promoter region of eNOS comprises binding sites for transcriptional elements which are Sp1 and GATA. KLF2 has been demonstrated to induce eNOS expression [104]. Additionally, there are many transcriptional factors binding sites and some of those are, activation protein-1 and 2 (AP-1, AP-2) and NF-&ß [105].

The main role of eNOS is to produce nitric oxide (NO) from L-arginine [106, 107]. NO is one of the most significant molecules that maintain the vascular tone. In addition, it has

many important functions such as preventing adhesion of leukocyte to endothelial cells, decreasing of smooth muscle cell proliferation, regulating smooth muscle cells relaxation, reducing monocytes stickiness, reducing releasing of free radicals and inhibiting platelet aggregation [105, 108].



Figure 1.9. The illustration of coupled and uncoupled NOS [109]

eNOS is inactive in monomeric form, in other words when it exerts its uncoupled form (Fig.1.9 a), however it is only active as a homodimer which means when it exerts its coupled form as represented in Fig 1.9 b [110, 111]. Zinc-thiolate cluster (ZnS₄) is formed by zinc ions between cysteine groups of two monomers. Therefore, zinc ions are essential for stability and dimerization of the coupled form. Also, tetrahydrobiopretin (BH₄) and heme is necessary for dimerization. eNOS contains two domains which are C-terminal reductase domain comprised of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH), flavin mononucleotide (FMN) and flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) binding domains and also N-terminal oxygenase domain comprised of BH₄ cofactor, substrate L-arginine, heme iron, and zinc binding domains [109, 112, 113]. In addition, eNOS hold Calcium (Ca²⁺)/Calmodulin (CAM) binding domain (Figure 1.10). During the production of NO,NADPH is oxidized to NAD⁺ and thus electron flows respectively to the flavin FAD,

and then to FMN of the one monomer reductase domain iron heme center and BH_4 of the oxygenase domain of another monomer where L-arginine/O₂ is converted to NO and Lcitrulline [114]. CAM controls and increases transfer of electron (Figure 1.10). In monomeric form of eNOS, electron is transferred to the heme center on same eNOS monomer resulting production of superoxide [115].



Figure 1.10. NO production via Ca²⁺/Calmodulin [114]

eNOS activation is not only depends on co-factors but also based on post-translational modification. In humans, eNOS phosphorylation in the amino acid region of Serine 1177 (Ser1177) trigger the activation of eNOS resulting increase in the production of NO while eNOS phosphorylation at Threonine 495 (Thr495) amino acid region inhibits NO production [111, 116, 117]. In this context, eNOS phosphorylation is carried out by serine/threonine kinase (Akt) which is stimulated by VEGF and shear stress [118-123].

Therefore, Akt plays important role in activation of eNOS to produce NO. Heat shock protein-90 (Hsp90) is other effector which regulates eNOS activity [116, 124].

Ca⁺²/CAM dependent manner is another activation way for eNOS [125]. Functional eNOS is found as bounding to caveolin-1 which is a plasma membrane protein. The Caveolin-1 attached to CAM binding sites as a result inhibits transfer of electron from NADPH at the

reductase domain to heme center of oxygenase domain. Ca^{+2} helps the binding of CAM protein to the CAM binding region of eNOS which causes the disruption of eNOS/Caveolin-1 complex in the plasma membrane [126]. Therefore, the flow of electron from reductase region to oxygenase region is initiated which results in the up-regulation of this enzyme.

The activation of eNOS is regulated by certain factors such as acetylcholine, histamine or bradykinin which take part in the increased intracellular level of Ca^{+2} by endoplasmic reticulum (ER). In this manner, shear stress represent the most significant factor in the regulation of eNOS enzyme expression [127].

NO that is produced by eNOS functions as a most protective molecule in cardiovascular diseases. Blocking the synthesis of NO has been shown to lead serious patho-physiological conditions such as atherosclerosis and hypertension [128]. For example, Kuhlencordt et al. showed that inadequacy in eNOS expression in ApoE-KO mice caused the acceleration of atherosclerosis with high lesion area in aortic valve [100, 129]. The most significant vasculature function of NO in the is relaxation of smooth muscle cells regulated through NO/cGMP signaling pathway [130]. Produced NO is diffused into smooth muscle cells where it bounds to and thus activates soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC). Active sGC converts guanosine triphosphate (GTP) to cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) that activates calcium-sensitive K channels (BK_{CA}) while inhibiting Ca²⁺ channels concluded in the relaxation of SMCs (Figure 1.11.) [130-132].



Figure 1.11. Smooth muscle cell relaxation processes [130]. NO activates sGC and BK_{CA} are activated while inhibiting Ca^{2+} channels. Thus, resulting smooth muscle relaxation and control of artery tonus.

NO exerts anti-inflammatory effects on vascular maintenance, prevents endothelial dysfunction and predominantly declines permeability of endothelial cells. Kosonen et al demonstrated that neutrophil adhesion and E-selectin expression were inhibited due to NO-releasing compound treatments in lipo-polysaccharide stimulated HUVECs [133]. It has been shown that NO diminished the level of leukocyte C11/CD18 receptors and prevented the binding of leukocytes to ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin [127, 134]. In addition, NO inhibits the production of free radicals which take part in oxidation of LDL in intima region of artery during endothelial dysfunction [135].

Impairment in the availability of NO triggers the development of the atherosclerosis which can contribute to severe clinical events including myocardial infarction (MI) and stroke [101]. Reduced level of NO has been demonstrated to cause endothelial dysfunction that is also known an early step for atherosclerosis in the human arterial wall [126]. Therefore, the maintenance of the availability of NO by activating eNOS in endothelial cells could be the primary therapeutic approach for preventing atherosclerosis and by this way restrain acute clinical symptoms.

1.5. STATINS

Statins are 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors. These hypolipidemic drugs are used to treat hyperlipidemia which is abnormal increase of lipids such as cholesterol in blood [10]. Statins are known as the most beneficial drugs to reduce LDL level in blood by inhibiting cholesterol production pathway in liver (Figure 1.12) [136]. HMG-CoA reductase enzymes are working by catalyzing HMG-CoA to mevalonate which is important substrate for cholesterol production as shown in figure 1.12 [137]. LDLs are found in atherosclerotic lesions and they are involved in atherosclerosis related cardiovascular diseases [138].



Figure 1.12. Reaction of statin in cholesterol production [137]

In addition, statins have various pleiotropic effects, in this way they protect vasculature [139]. Beneficial effects of statins are including decreased inflammation, protection of endothelial barrier function, decreasing expression of adhesion molecules on vascular wall, increased plaque stability. In addition, platelet aggregation, apoptosis and also thrombus formation decreasing are helpful effects of statins as represented in Figure 1.13 [140]. To conclude, statins have been studied as different therapeutic strategy to avoid development of atherosclerosis resulting in heart attack.



Figure 1.13. Pleiotropic effects of statin drug [140]

Randomized clinical trials indicate that decreasing LDL level results in reduction of cardiovascular disease risks [126]. High level of cholesterol in blood is main reason of CVD development and consequently deaths. However, statins have capacity to reduce significantly the deaths risk. According to 2013 American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Guidelines, recent randomized clinical trials showed that 18 out of 1000 people were treated with statins for five years without any CVD events [141]. Clinical studies evidenced that statins might stimulate activation of anti-inflammatory pathways because of its action in inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase enzyme [137]. Due to LDL level reduction ranges 30 to 63 percent statin drugs are characterized primary powerful drugs for prevention of cardiovascular disease (6-10).

1.5.1. Types of Statins

There are different statins types such as atorvastatin, rosuvastatin simvastatin, pitavastatin, pravastatin and fluvastatin. According to their different characteristics such as chemical properties, derivation, solubility and metabolic pathway their bioavailability and half-life is variable (Figure 1.15). Beside their differences they all have been shown to be beneficial in cardiovascular diseases in literature.

| Name | Chemical structure | Derivation | Solubility | Metabolic pathway | Bio- availability | Half-life (hours) |
|--------------|--|---|-------------|------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| Atorvastatin | P NH N OH OH OH O OH OH OH O OH OH OH O OH OH OH O OH OH OH O OH OH OH O OH OH OH O OH OH OH O OH OH OH O OH OH OH OH O OH OH OH OH O OH OH OH OH OH O OH OH OH OH OH O OH OH OH OH OH O OH OH OH OH OH O OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH O | Synthetic | lipophilic | CYP450 3A4 | 14% | 14 |
| Pitavastatin | P N OH OH O | Synthetic | lipophilic | Biliary, CYP2C9/2C8 | 50% | 12 |
| Pravastatin | | Fermentation derived | hydrophilic | Non CYP | 17% | 77 |
| Rosuvastatin | $H_{3}C$ H | Synthetic | hydrophilic | CYP2C9, CYP2C19 | 20% | 19 |
| Simvastatin | | Synthetic deriva- tive of a fermen- tation derived product | lipophilic | CYP450 3A4 | <5% | 1.9 |

Figure 1.14. Pharmacological and chemical properties of different statin types [142]

Simvastatin, pravastatin and lovastatin are obtained from fungal by fermentation. Atorvastatin, fluvastatin and cerivastatin are synthesized. After 31 cerivastatin treated patients' deaths this drug was withdrew by Bayer on 2008. Circulation concentrations of statins are low such as 12 percent Atorvastatin, 20-30 percent fluvastatin, 5 percent simvastatin and lovastatin. Active acid form compounds are dispended in form of statin drugs like atorvastatin, fluvastatin and pravastatin. However, simvastatin and lovastatin are inactive form thus they are required to enzymatically activated [143-145].

Long-Term intervention with Pravastatin in ischemic disease study group indicated that 40 mg/day pravastatin therapy reduced the mortality of coronary heart disease in patients who

suffered from myocardial infarction previously [146]. Rosenson et al. demonstrated 10-40 mg rosuvastatin treatment reduced the level of LDL 52-63 percent compared to HDL and the level of triglycerides by 28 percent in hypercholesterolemia patients [147]. Jones et al investigated the effect of 10, 20, 40 and 80 mg of rosuvastatin, atorvastatin, simvastatin or pravastatin treatment on 2431 hypercholesterolemia patients for six weeks. As a result they showed that rosuvastatin and atorvastatin treatment decreased the level of LDL cholesterol by 82 to 89 percent and 60 to 85 percent respectively [148]. Another study showed that 10 mg atorvastatin was more effective to reduce LDL level in hypercholesterolemia suffered patients compared to 10 mg simvastatin, 10 and 20 mg pravastatin, 20 and 40 mg fluvastatin and lovastatin [149]. Hoeke et al. showed that atorvastatin enhanced activity of brown adipose tissue, plays role in atherosclerosis and hypercholesterolemia with its antiatherosclerotic and lipid lowering effect, in APOE^{*}3-Leiden mice [150]. Brown et al. also compared different types of statins like atorvastatin, simvastatin, fluvastatin and lovastatin in role of LDL cholesterol reduction level in patients who suffer from atherosclerosis. The indicated results showed that the target LDL cholesterol concentration was achieved importantly with atorvastatin usage at the starting dose of 10 mg when compared to other statins [151]. Li et al. studied effect of E-selectin targeted atorvastatin calcium with curcumin, polyphenol that has antioxidant and anti-inflammation effect, loaded of liposome delivery system in reduction of lipids and adhesion molecules in vitro (HAECs) and in vivo (ApoE^{-/-}mice model). The results of study showed that the inflamed cells targeted drug delivery system reduced ICAM-1 and E-selectin expression in vitro and decreased atherosclerotic lesions in vivo [152]. All these studies confirmed that both atorvastatin and rosuvastatin drugs are more effective than another existing statin in LDL reduction. Moreover, Sever et al. have applied 10 mg atorvastatin in hypertensive women and men by following up to 5 years and they utilized a reduction in the main cardiovascular events [153]. Nohria et al. studied with 35 atherosclerotic patients who treated with 10 mg/day and 80 mg/day atorvastatin doses and the results showed that atorvastatin reduces pro-atherogenic Rho/Rho kinase (ROCK) pathway [154].

Therapeutic effect of statins has been indicated not only on LDL levels but also in different anti-inflammatory pathways occur in arteries and cardiovascular pathologies. For example, statin drugs are reported to increase NO bioavailability, decrease inflammation stimulated expression levels of adhesion molecules, cytokine, having antioxidant effects and prevent endothelial dysfunction [155, 156]. Statins have been documented in eNOS expression and activity. In this context, Igarashi et al. reported that atorvastatin and pitavastatin were induced sphingosine-1 phosphate (S1P₁) receptor that binds to G-protein coupled S1P₁ receptor and activate eNOS in vascular endothelial cells. They concluded that pleiotropic effect of statin may be vascular protective through increasing bioavailability of NO [156]. Ota et al. demonstrated that PI3K/Akt pathway was activated and eNOS expression was increased with atorvastatin, pravastatin and pitavastatin treated HUVEC [157]. In another study, Loboda et al. determined that atorvastatin increased eNOS expression in microvascular endothelial cells [158]. Chen et al demonstrated that Atorvastatin increased proliferation of ox-LDL pretreated HUVEC also increased eNOS mRNA and protein expression while decreasing HSP22 level, is pro-inflammatory heat shock protein type, in ApoE^{-/-} mice and in HUVEC [159]. Chang et al showed that atorvastatin protected proliferation mechanism of HUVEC by inhibiting Angiotension II (AngII), plays role in endothelial dysfunction [160].

Downar et al. showed that mRNA expression of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 were decreased and NF-&B was inhibited in simvastatin treated HUVEC which is stimulated by TNF- α [161].

BAO et al. observed that ROS accumulation and apoptosis of endothelial cells might be inhibited by using atorvastatin [162]. Studies demonstrated that apoptosis of endothelial cells in terms of ROS is vital in endothelial dysfunction. It is recognized that people suffer from diabetic mellitus tend to have cardiovascular mortality. Ekstrand et al. observed that five days treatment of atorvastatin reduced ROS level in atherosclerotic lesion of high fat died fed mice model [163]. According to recent studies, glycation and oxidative stress has a significant role in cardiovascular disease development. Feng et al. investigated atorvastatin effect through receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) and MCP-1 which is downstream target gene of RAGE. RAGE is cell surface receptor of immunoglobulin super-family and has role in inflammation. Obtained results demonstrated that atorvastatin decreased RAGE and MCP-1expression in HUVEC and in rats fed with high fat diet [164].

Minami et al. was determined that pleiotropic effect of statin which was up-regulated effect GTP-binding protein dissociation stimulator (SmgGDS), regulator of small GTP- binding proteins (Rho, Rac, Ras), by degrading Rac1 whose role is ROS production through β 1-
integrin/Akt1 pathway [155]. Recent studies showed that of pro-inflammatory cytokines expression are controlled by statin. Rezaie-Majd et al. demonstrated that MCP-1, IL-6 and IL-8 were decreased in simvastatin treated hypercholesterolemia patients [165].



Figure 1.15. Anti-atherosclerotic action of statin in vascular endothelium [166]

Apart from therapeutically effect of statins, there are serious side effects of these drugs like myopathy (muscle weakness), liver abnormalities, diabetes, peripheral neuropathy (damages of nerve that carry message to and from brain) and insomnia (inability to sleep) [141, 167]. Some studies showed that adverse effects are caused because of increasing concentration of statins in blood circulation [168]. It was suggested that simvastatin dosage should not be more than 40 mg/day because it was stated that 80 mg/day resulted in high rates of myopathy. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) advise to avoid 80 mg dosage for simvastatin [169]. Some studies have shown in patients with hypercholesterolemia that atorvastatin and rosuvastatin are dose-dependently more efficient by decreasing level of triglycerides than other types of statins depending on dose rises [148, 170, 171]. The most prevalent musculoskeletal adverse effects that caused by statins therapy are muscle weakness, cramps aches and creatinine kinase (CK) elevations [172]. CK, type of enzyme,

muscle cells are damaged releases therefore clinical trials observed that releasing of this enzyme depends on statins and their usage doses [167].

The effective therapy by using statin in order to eliminate statin-related muscle symptoms during treatment of patients is still required. Most patients are unable to tolerate high statin dose therefore they are under risk [138]. For this reason, in order to reduce drug dosage, side effects and increase therapeutic efficacy, development of disease area specific targeted drug delivery systems become more an issue. Targeted delivery approach may be beneficial in order to reduce side effects of statins which are indicated in studies describing the therapeutic potential of the drug.

1.6. APTAMERS

Aptamers are short RNA and single-stranded DNA oligonucleotides [173]. Aptamer has been named from Latin as "Aptos" which means -to fit- and from Greek word "meros" which means -region part- [174]. In the early of 1990, aptamer technology was invented by Ellington et al. with various studies on targeted dye molecules using RNA aptamer. These studies helped scientists to discover specific aptamer to target specifically intercellular molecules that are inaccessible by antibodies [174, 175]. Thus aptamers have some advantages compared to antibodies [176]. Antibody molecular weight ranges from 150 kDa to 1000 kDa, however weight of aptamer ranges from 15 to 50 kDa. Aptamers are smaller than antibodies. Their smaller size makes aptamer easily penetrate between tissue or cells and also make them more attractive for targeting drug delivery preventions [177]. Also, production of aptamer is easier than antibody. In other words, aptamer can be synthesized in a short time. On the contrary, cost of antibodies production is high and need to produce in living animal which is more difficult and expensive. In addition, aptamers have higher binding affinity and highly specific to their target. Other advantages of aptamers are that they are not identified by immune system in body because they are nucleic acid [178, 179]. These features of aptamer could make them attractive for therapeutic prevention and diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases. High affinity aptamers are selected with a method which is called Systematic Evolution of Ligand by Exponential Enrichment (SELEX) [180, 181]. This SELEX method which needs about 10-15 cycles isolates highly target specific aptamer from whole aptamers library [182, 183]. There are four steps for SELEX. Firstly, nucleic acid with random sequence is synthesized. Secondly, these random sequences are incubated with target molecules to bind. Third, unbounded sequences are removed by washing and eluting. Finally, the isolated DNA/RNA sequence is amplified by using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [184]. In clinical, Macugen[®] (or pegaptinib) which is vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) antagonist is the most successful RNA aptamer. This aptamer is applied for wet age-related macular degeneration disease [185]. Pathophysiology of endothelial cells represent therapeutically target for studying targeted drug interventions [186]. Aptamer can function as cell signaling pathway suppresser by binding to target ligand which leads to prevent of cytokines to bind their receptor [182].

Pro-inflammatory protein expression on inflamed endothelial cell make them attractive target molecule to develop targeted drug delivery system. Therefore, these features of aptamers make them attractive for therapeutic prevention and diagnosis of atherosclerosis especially at early stages which the plaque do not protrude into the lumen and it is called *"silent plaque"* [187]. This silent plaque can lead to severe clinical symptoms.

In this context, Ji et al. studied thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) specifically detects DNA aptamer in atherosclerotic cell model using HAEC via cell-SELEX method. TSP-1 protein expression activates the adhesion molecules expression, proliferation of smooth muscle cell and also leads to monocytes to attach to endothelium in the initially stages of atherosclerosis [188]. Damare et al. developed RNA aptamer that was specific to plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1), which is an important risk factor for types of cardiovascular diseases development, in order prevent interaction of PAI-1 with tissue-type plasminogen (tPA) and urokinase-type plasminogen (uPA) activators. The results showed that PAI-1 RNA aptamer inhibited binding of PAI-1 with tPA [189]. Ojima et al. developed advanced glycation end products (AGE) aptamer and studied in balloon injured rat carotid arteries whether this aptamer inhibits neointimal hyperplasia. Interaction of AGE with its receptor RAGE causes the production of oxidative stress and leads to inflammatory reactions in this way including in the process that accelerated atherosclerosis [190]. Site specific delivery of drug is important for minimizing delivery to normal cell thereby reducing site effects. Mann et al. developed E-selectin specific aptamer and observations showed that this aptamer detected E-selectin in human microvascular endothelial cells (HMVEC) with high affinity [191]. Highly target specific and affinity

properties of aptamer make them suitable for delivering of less-site specific therapeutic peptide. For that reason, Romanelli et al. developed aptamer peptide chimera (Gint4.T-MP) to deliver of MP peptide which mimic $Ca_v\beta 2$, has role in cardiac contractility, to cardiac cells to treat cardiac diseases. Gint4.T was specific to platelet-derived growth factor receptor- β (PDGFR- β) whose expression is observed in cardiomyocytes [192].

C-reactive protein (CRP) is an another significant biomarker and the concentration ranges three mg/ml to 10 mg/ml of CRP constitutes high risk factor for cardiovascular diseases [193]. There are different techniques to detect CRP level such as immunofluorescence, immunochemiluminescence, ELISA and radioimmunodiffusion. Main limitation of these methods includes equipment cost, sophisticated experimental procedure and low detection limit. Therefore, Jarchzewska et al. discovered as sensor based on electrochemical DNA-aptamer to observe CRP as an alternative analyzer of this protein [194]. Kao et al. found CRP-specific ssDNA aptamer with high specificity and sensitivity using field effect transistor (FET) equipment to observe CRP in an integrated micro fluidic system. Results showed with concentration from 0,625 mg/ml to 10 mg/ml aptamer-FET assay is capable of identify CRP which could be potential therapy for early diagnosis of CVDs [193]. Yu et al. improved highly specific and selective DNA aptamer to detect CRP with SELEX [183].

These literature studies show that aptamers are practicable alternative to antibody and they look great potential to be applied as therapeutic and targeting agent [195]. For nanoparticle-based drug delivery system aptamers are promising much hope.

1.7. NANOPARTICLE BASED TARGETED RELEASE

According to World Health Organization approximately 31 percent of deaths around the world base upon to the atherosclerosis and that's why this is crucial for prevention of the development of this disease which result in heart attack [196, 197]. In order to prevent atherosclerosis varied therapeutics have been carried out, tested as clinically and researched in laboratories. Most of studies showed that delivered drugs as orally lead to non-specific taken of drugs by healthy cells. Thus, non-specific distribution can be resulted in severe side effects particularly during long-term treatment. In some cases, higher doses of statin concluded to be efficient in hyperlipidemia treatment however it leads to adverse effects like myopathy that is weakness of muscle during long time treatment. In addition,

lower dosage of statin drugs could not be effective in the treatment of atherosclerosis. Nanoparticle based targeted drug delivery remains great potential to develop therapeutic delivery of drug to disease site for atherosclerosis [198]. Nanoparticles based targeted drug delivery has been studied over years in order to obtain therapeutic effects while reducing side effects. The currently drugs that are applied for atherosclerosis have not proper function to directly inhibit inflammation mechanism resulting in atherosclerosis [199]. Therefore, there is still a demand for more potential and safe therapy that directly target inflammation mechanism [200]. In this way, nanoparticle technology promises an important approach to overcome these issues. Nanoparticle based drug delivery overcomes some drawbacks including poor availability, fast metabolism, water insoluble and reverse effects of drugs. Additional risk factors in atherosclerosis show that there are various targeting opportunities for using nanoparticles for diagnosis and treatment of atherosclerosis. During circulation of drugs along blood, endothelium is excessive to drugs however without targeting the drugs could be taken by healthy cells. Therefore, nanoparticles loaded with drugs can be conjugated with determinants which are specific for endothelial cells. As targeting agent receptors, peptides and inflammatory proteins have been utilized for atherosclerosis targeted therapy (Figure 1.16) [199].



Figure 1.16. An example of MSN modified nanoparticle [201]

Nanoparticles ranges from 1 to 100 nm in size [202]. There are different types of nanoparticles according to their chemical properties such as liposome, mesoporous silica nanoparticles, HDL and dendrimers.

Liposomes are composed of phospholipid bilayers and they are studied targeted drug delivery system [203]. Scott et al. developed P-selectin, is protein expressed on endothelial cells during inflammatory stimuli, conjugated VEGF containing liposome to improve cardiac function using MI rat model [204]. Homem de Bittencourt et al. synthesized VACM-1 antibody conjugated cyclopentenone prostaglandin, anti-inflammatory agent, loaded liposome to target atherosclerotic area in ldl receptor knockout mice [205]. Valk et al. studied prednisolone loaded liposomal nanoparticle (LN-PLP) in LDLr^{-/-} mice and the results of this study demonstrated that recruitment of monocytes were induced by LN-PNP [206]. Atherosclerosis targeted nanotechnology is still challenged.

In the early of 2000s, mesoporous materials have been introduced for drug delivery and in recent years, mesoporous silica nanoparticle (MSNs) has been shown to encourage hope in applying cell-specific drug delivery [201]. Due to the uniform nano-pore size and surface chemistry, MSNs are manageable to protect loaded drug for controlled release as well as suitable to minimize side effects that is done by drug [201, 207]. MSNs are also applicable for hydrophobic drugs and can prevent drugs from degradation [208]. Nanoparticles have various advantages, for example they can be modified including particle size, shape, bioavailability and surface charge which give nanoparticles site specific characteristics [209]. The nano-scale pores of MSNs provide drugs to efficiently disperse [210]. In the present study, for encapsulating Atorvastatin Drug Mobile crystalline material (MCM-41) mesoporous silica nanoparticles were applied. This nanoparticles made of silicon dioxide (SiO₂) [211]. Fernandez et al. studied MCM-41 nanoparticles that loaded with caspase-1 inhibitor VX-765 (S2-P) and attached with poly-lysine as a molecular target in THP-1 cells and in inflamed mice model. The results showed that MCM-41 provide potential advantage to treat inflammatory diseases [208]. Geng et al. studied hollow mesoporous silica nanoparticles (HMS) to show these nanoparticles have high drug encapsulating capacity and importance in the regulation of release drug [210].

In current clinical practice, only few therapies such as statin and aspirin are effectively diminishing the cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis. However, only 30 to 40 percent of the patients give positive feedback to these treatment strategies [212]. In

addition, statin drugs require long administration time for treatment which causes strong side effect. Therefore, it is important to develop the safe delivery of drug administration to the disease region.

In this current study, we investigated the effect of non-targeted delivery of drug which contained only Atorvastatin and targeted delivery of drug system which was ICAM-1 Apt-Atorv-MCM41 on TNF- α stimulated HUVEC. Therefore, we evaluated in vitro therapeutic potential of Apt-Atorv-MCM41 delivery system on HUVEC by checking p-Akt/eNOS activation at RNA expression and protein level.



2. MATERIALS

2.1. INSTRUMENTS

- Cell Culture Hood (Esco, Class II BSC)
- Cell Culture Incubator (Esco, CCL-050B-8)
- Light Microscope (American Optical Corporation, 1810)
- Centrifuge (Microfuge16, BECKMAN COULTER)
- PCR Machine (MULTIGENE)
- Nanodrop 2000 (ThermoFisher)
- UltraFreezer (Haier-86 UltraFreezer, DW86L338)
- Fridge (Arçelik, No-Frost)
- -20 Freezer (Panasonic, MDF-U731M)
- Spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher Scientific, VARIOSKAN LUX)
- Elisa Plate Reader (ThermoLab systems, Multiskan Ascent)
- Centrifuge (SIGMA, 3-18K)
- Vortex
- Visualization (ChemiDocTMXRS+System, 1708265)
- Real Time PCR Detection System (BIORAD, CFX96TM Touch)
- Vertigal Gel Electrophoresis Apparatus JY-ZY5 Western Blotting System (Junyi, China)

2.2. EQUIPMENTS

- Cell Culture Flasks T75, T25 (TPP, 90075-25)
- Micropipette tips 1000µl, 200µl, 10µl (Axygen, 301-03-051)
- Serological Pipette 25ml, 10ml, 5ml (SPL, 91005, 10, 25)
- Microcentrifuge tubes 2ml, 1.5ml (CAPP, 5101550C, 52000C)
- Cryotube 2ml (Isolab, I.091.11.102.100)
- Falcon Tubes 50ml, 15ml (Axygen, SCT15ML25S)

- Falcon Tube 5ml (SSI BIO, 1410-09)
- 24-Well Plate (Corning, 3526)
- PCR Tubes (Thermo Fisher, AB0620)
- Hemocytometer (Sigma, Z359629)
- Micropipette 1000µl, 200µl, 20µl, 2µl (Finn Pipette, 4642010,50,80,90)
- PCR Plate and Seal (BIO-RAD, 2239441)
- Western Blot Apparatus (ThermoFisher Scientific)
- Filter Paper (ThermoFisher, 88600)

2.3. CHEMICALS

- Atorvastatin calcium salt (Sigma, PZ0001-25MG)
- DMEM 1X (Gibco, 11965118)
- FBS (Gibco, 105000064)
- PBS (Gibco, 13190094)
- Pen/Strep (Gibco, 15140122)
- Trypsin (Gibco, 25200056)
- DMSO (Sigma, D8418)
- SuperSignalTM West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Subtrate (ThermoFisher, 34096)
- TNFα (Invitrogen GIBCO, PHC3011)
- RIPA Lysis Buffer (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, 11815)
- SureCastTM 40% (w/v) Acrylamide (ThermoFisher Scientific, 793535-17)
- SureCastTM Resolving Buffer (ThermoFisher Scientific, 1799334)
- SureCastTM Stacking Buffer (ThermoFisher Scientific, 1794649)
- Dodecyl sulfate sodium salt (SDS, Merck, 8.22050.1000)
- eNOS(49G3) Rabbit mAb (Cell Signaling, 9586)
- Phospho-Akt (Ser473) Antibody (Cell Signaling, 9271)
- Anti-Rabbit IgG, HRP-linked Antibody (Cell Signaling, 7074)
- Page Ruler Prestained Protein Ladder (ThermoFisher, 00590517)
- Trizma base (Sigma Aldrich, T1503-1KG)
- Bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma Aldrich, 05470)

2.4. KIT

- AurumTM Total RNA Mini Kit (BIO-RAD, 732-6820)
- iScriotTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (BIO-RAD, 170-8891)
- iTaqTM Universal SYBR Green Supermix (BIO-RAD, 172-5121)3



3. METHODS

3.1. APTAMER AND NANOPARTICLE CONJUGATION AND CHARACTERIZATION

Characterization of silica nanoparticles MCM-41 and drug delivery system of Apt-NP were carried out by applying TEM.

3.2. TEM ANALYSIS

MCM-41 type silica nanoparticle crystalline and compositional properties were characterized by applying TEM analysis. Fabrication of nanoparticles was done using ultrasonication of powder silica nanoparticles inside ethanol for five minutes. Later suspension was allowed to get dry applying on standard holey carbon TEM grid. TEM analysis was performed in Middle East Technical University Central Laboratories, 200kV in TEM mode.

3.3. CELL CULTURE

HUVECs (ATCC) were grown in DMEM supplied 10 percent FBS and one percent Pen/Strep. HUVECs seeded to T75 flasks were incubated at 37°C in five percent CO₂ humidified incubator. Medium of cells was changed every two or three days. During reached up of cells to 70 or 80 percent they were sub-cultured. For sub-culturing, medium inside flask was taken off and cells were washed using PBS. To remove cells from surface one ml of trypsin was added on cells and after softly shaker cells were again incubated at 37°C incubator for three or four minutes. Then cells were poured with fresh medium. Cells were counted by using Hemocytometer. After cells number was determined, the appropriate number of suspended cells was added on centrifuge tubes and tubes were centrifuged at 1500 rpm for five minutes. Pellet was re-suspended and cells were used as required. For freezing, one million cells that were re-suspended with one ml of total freezing medium with five percent DMSO was transferred into cryotubes. Before

transferred cells into ultra-freezer, cryotubes were placed in cell freezing chamber for overnight. For the experiment of this study passage numbers for cell were used from 11 to 15.

3.4. CYTOTOXIC EFFECT OF MCM-41 SILICA NANOPARTICLE ON HUVEC

Drug delivery system targeting ICAM-1 with its aptamer consisted of silica nanoparticle MCM-41 and loaded with Atorvastatin. In order to determine MCM-41 type silica nanoparticle cytotoxic effect, HUVECs were incubated with different concentrations of MCM-41 silica nanoparticles. 5×10^3 cells/well HUVEC were seeded to 96-well plate after that, cells were incubated at 37°C for overnight. Then HUVEC were incubated with 25, 50, 75, 100, 200 and 500 µg/ml concentrations of silica nanoparticles MCM-41 contained DMEM and control group which included only 0.5 percent DMSO for 24 hours. Then silica nanoparticles contained medium was taken off and washing of cells were done using PBS. Total 100 µl DMEM which contained 10 µl cell proliferation reagent of WST-1 was put on cells and then cells were placed inside incubator for one hour at 37°C. The absorbance of medium was calculated by applying Elisa microplate reader.

3.5. EVALUATING THE ATTACHMENT OF ICAM-1 APTAMER-MCM41-FLUORESCEIN IN HUVEC

The in vitro attachments of ICAM-1-Aptamer-MCM41-Fluorescein (APT-NP-FI) to HUVEC cells were determined. 3×10^4 cells/well HUVEC was seeded to 96-well plate and placed at 37°C for overnight. Then, cells were stimulated with TNF- α for six hours and there was a control group that was not stimulated with TNF- α . Afterwards, HUVECs were placed with 500 nM of APT-NP-FI for four hours. The images were taken with fluorescence microscopy.

3.6. EVALUATING ICAM-1 INDUCING DOSE OF TNF-ALPHA

ICAM-1 up-regulating concentration of TNF- α was determined. 6×10^5 cells/well HUVEC were seeded to 6-well plate after that they were incubated at 37°C for overnight. HUVECs

were incubated with 0.1, 1, 10 and 20 ng/ml TNF- α for four hours. Then cells were trypsinized after centrifuge pellet was freeze at -20°C for RNA isolation.

3.7. DRUG TREATMENT OF HUVECS

Confluent cells were passage and seeded into 24-well plate. HUVECs were stimulated with 20 ng TNF- α for six hours. After that, HUVECs were treated with only Atorvastatin and ICAM1 Aptamer conjugated Atorvastatin loaded MCM-41 (ICAM1-Apt-Atorv-MSNP) which was dissolved in DMSO, and culture cell media at concentrations 1nM, 2nM, 1 μ M, 2 μ M and 5 μ M. Experimental groups were as shown in Table 3.1.

| Table 3.1. | Experimental | groups | that were | treated | with drug |
|------------|--------------|--------|-----------|---------|-----------|
| | | | | | |

| Group 1 | HUVEC |
|---------|---|
| Group 2 | $HUVEC + TNF\alpha$ |
| Group 3 | HUVEC + TNF α + Atorvastatin |
| Group 4 | HUVEC + TNFα + ICAM1 Aptamer conjugated Atorvastatin loaded MCM-41 |

3.8. REAL-TIME PCR

3.8.1. RNA Isolation

Total RNA isolation was carried out using BIO-RAD AurumTM Total RNA Mini Kit. Briefly, 350 μ l lysis solutions were added into HUVECs and pipet up and down. 350 μ l of 70 percent ethanol added on lysis solution. Whole homogenized lysates were put into RNA binding column which was placed into 2 ml capless tube. The centrifugation of tubes was done at 12.000 g for 35 seconds. The bottom solution was disposed of and the column was replaced into same wash tube. 700 μ l RNA Low Stringency wash solution was put into the RNA binding column and centrifugation was done at 12.000 g for 35 seconds. Solutions in bottom of tubes were discarded and the columns were replaced into the same wash tube. Five μ l DNase I and 75 μ l DNase dilution solution were mixed and 80 μ l was used for one sample then incubation of samples was done at room temperature for 15 minutes. 700 μ l RNA high stringency wash solution was added on RNA binding column and centrifuged at 12.000 g for 35 seconds. Bottom solutions were removed, and the columns were replaced with same wash tube. 700 μ l of RNA low stringency wash solution put on column and centrifuged at 12.000 g for one minute 30 seconds. The bottom solution was discarded and again centrifugation of the tubes was done at 12.000 g for two minutes. RNA binding column was taken and put into 1.5 ml micro centrifuge tube and 40 μ l elution solution added onto column and samples incubation was done at room temperature for one minute and then centrifuged at 12.000 g for two minutes. Finally, the column was removed, and RNA contained tubes stored at -20°C. The concentration of RNA samples was measured using Nanodrop spectrophotometer by taking one μ l from samples.

3.8.2. cDNA Synthesis and Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction

cDNA synthesis was performed out using 1000 ng total RNA. 1000 ng RNA and master mix containing random primer, reaction mix, and enzyme mix were mixed followed by addition of nuclease free water in an eppendorf tube. Samples were placed in the cDNA synthesis machine in following conditions: 25°C for five minutes, 42°C for 120 minutes, 85°C for five minutes.

Following that, real time polymerase chain reaction was applied. A master mix was prepared which for 1x containing 10 μ l SYBR Green, two μ l cDNA, six μ l nuclease free water, one μ l reverse and forward primer. Two μ l cDNA was mixed with 16 μ l master mix that prepared for eNOS primer forward 5-'GCACAGTTACCAGCTAGCCA'-3, reverse 5-'AGGATTGTCGCCTTCACTCG-'3, ICAM-1 and β eta-actin in RT-PCR plate. Samples were placed in the RT-PCR machine and program was arranged in the conditions as shown in Table 3.2.

| Step | Time/cycles | Temperature |
|-------------------------|-------------|-------------|
| Initial activation step | 3 min. | 95 °C |
| Denaturation | 30 sec. | 95 °C |
| Annealing | 40 sec. | 60.72 °C |
| Extension | 40 sec. | 00-72 C |
| Number of cycles | 39 X | |
| End of PCR cycling | Indefinite | 4 °C |

3.9. WESTERN BLOTTING

3.9.1. Cell Lysis

The protein lysate was harvested from the cultured cells in RIPA lysis buffer supplemented with PMSF, Na-Orthovanadate and Protease inhibitor. The medium inside 24-well plate was removed. After that, washing of cells were done with cold PBS one time. Then 100 μ l lysis of buffer was added onto cells and cell scraper was used to remove cells from surface. Final lysate was pull together into 1.5 ml eppendorf tubes and after cells break up with injector, they were placed on ice for 30 minutes. Finally, centrifugation of cells was done at 18000 rpm at 4°C for 10 minutes and supernatant was discarded, and pellet was stored at -20°C.

3.9.2. Detergent Compatible Protein Assay

Serial dilution was performed from a standardized 20 mg/ml BSA solution which was diluted 1:1 in RIPA lysis buffer for obtaining the final concentrations; 0 (RIPA), 0.125, 0.25, 0.50, 0.75, 1, 1.5 and 2 mg/ml. 200 μ l Reagent B and 25 μ l Mix Reagent (Reagent A and Reagent S) was added to 5 μ l of both standards and samples in 96 well plate as two replicates. Protein content was calculated by measuring absorbance at 750 nm using Spectrophotometer and comparing the protein concentration of the known standards to the samples using Microsoft Office Excel.

3.9.3. SDS PAGE

Western Blotting was performed using four percent Stacking Gel and eight percent of Resolving Gel with BOLT Running Buffer. Total protein concentrations used in the experiments were 40 µg. LDS Sample Buffer (4x) diluted to 1x and the Reducing agent (10x) diluted to 1x were added to samples. Then sample mixtures were denaturant at 70°C for 10 minutes. After denaturation, the BOLT running buffer (20x) was prepared with dH_2O as final concentration 1x. The apparatus was set up and gel was placed. 200 ml of BOLT running buffer was added to the inner tank and it was checked in case of leakage. The fill up of outer chamber with 600 ml running buffer was done. Four µl of protein ladder was taken and it was loaded into first well and then samples were loaded one by one. The gel was run at 60V until dye reaches to resolving gel then voltage was raised to 120V for about two hours. Protein was blotted to a PVDF membrane by using wet transfer system at 25V, 35mA for overnight. The membrane blocking was done with using 10 ml five percent BSA in TBS-T at room temperature by shaking for one. After that the membrane incubation was done overnight at 4°C by using primary antibodies of eNOS (1:500), p-Akt (1:2000) diluted in 10 ml five percent BSA in TBS-T and β -actin (1:2000) diluted in 10 ml five percent milk powder in TBS-T on shaker. Then the membrane was washed with TBS-T with three times for five minutes. After that, incubation of the membrane was done with Anti-Rabbit secondary antibodies of eNOS (1:5000), p-Akt (1:5000) diluted in 10 ml five percent BSA in TBS-T and Goat-Anti-Rabbit β-actin (1:10000) diluted in 10 ml five percent milk powder in TBS-T at room temperature for one

hour by placing on shaker. After that the membrane was rinsed in TBS for ECL application. 500 μ l each of ECL and Enhancer were mixed and added on top of membrane drop by drop then incubate membrane for one minute. Finally, the membrane was scanned by using BIO-RAD Molecular Imager.

3.10. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

GraphPad Prism 7.00 was used to perform statistical analysis of the data. Experiment results were shown as mean \pm SD. For cytotoxicity assay one-way Anova test was performed. For TNF- α dose determination one-way Anova test and t-test were done in order to evaluate differences between different concentrations. RT-PCR and Western Blot results were analyzed using one-way Anova test and t-test to provide differences between specific groups where it is appropriate. 'n value' represents the repeated experiments number. P value is smaller than 0.05 (p<0.05) that is statistically significant.

4. RESULTS

The aim of this study was to evaluate therapeutic efficiency of atorvastatin loaded targeted and controlled release system compared to only atorvastatin via p-Akt/eNOS activation pathway in endothelial cells.

4.1. APT-NP DRUG DELIVERY SYSTEM CHARACTERIZATION

Mesoporous silica nanoparticles MCM41 characterization was carried out applying different methods. At first, silica nanoparticles hexagonal image was shown using TEM [213].



Figure 4.1. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles MCM41 TEM images was shown [213].

4.1.1. MCM-41 Silica Nanoparticles Cytotoxic Effect on HUVEC

To determine cytotoxicity of silica nanoparticles on HUVEC cells, WST-1 assay was carried out. HUVECs were incubated with different silica nanoparticle concentrations (ranges from 25 to 500 μ g/ml) for 24 hours. The experiments were carried out as triplicates and results were normalized to the groups that HUVEC were not exposed to silica nanoparticles. As shown in Figure 4.1, we determined that there were no significant differences between the groups that were incubated with different doses of silica nanoparticles compared to 0.5 percent DMSO treated control group. These results showed that silica nanoparticles do not have cytotoxic effect on HUVEC cells including increasing concentrations up to 500 μ g/ml.



Figure 4.2. Effect of MCM-41 nanoparticles on cell viability of HUVEC compared to control group treated with 0.5 percent DMSO (0 μg/ml). HUVEC treated with different concentrations (25-500 μg/ml) MCM-41 nanoparticles. Data was represented by mean±standard deviation. One-way Anova was used to compare groups (n=3).

4.1.2. In Vitro Attachment of Apt-MCM-41 in HUVEC

In order to examine cellular attachment of ICAM-1 targeted aptamer drug delivery system, silica nanoparticle conjugated aptamers with fluorescent attachment (Apt-NP-FI) and fluorescence microscopy has been used. In control group, HUVECs were incubated with Apt-NP-FI using 500 nM concentrations for four hours. Also, another group HUVECs was firstly pre-incubated with TNF- α for six hours and then cells were incubated with Apt-NP-FI using 500 nM concentration for four hours. The images obtained by fluorescence microscopy are shown in Figure 4.2. DAPI, FAM and merged DAPI/FAM are shown below separately. The detected fluorescence signal showed that Apt-NP-FI nanoparticles more attached cells more when pre-incubated with TNF- α . These results evaluated that TNF- α stimulates ICAM-1 adhesion molecules expression and increase attachment of targeted drug delivery system to HUVECs. This result shows the attachment of APT-NP-FI to HUVEC in inflammatory conditions such as TNF- α stimulation.



Figure 4.3. In vitro attachment of ICAM-1 Aptamer-MCM41 Nanoparticle-Fluorescein (Apt-NP-FI) in HUVEC. Cells were incubated with 500 nM Apt-Np-FI for four hours. (Blue: DAPI; Green: Apt-NP-FI)

4.2. TNF-α INDUCES ICAM-1 mRNA EXPRESSION OF IN HUVEC

We evaluated whether TNF- α stimulate inflammatory response in HUVEC. Therefore, HUVEC cells were stimulated with different TNF- α concentrations such as control (only 0.5 percent DMSO), 0.1, 1, 10 and 20 ng/ml for 4 hours. As shown in Figure 4.2 we observed that TNF- α increased ICAM-1 mRNA level in dose-dependently. 10 and 20 ng/ml was significantly up-regulated ICAM-1 mRNA expression when comparing to control group. With this experiment, TNF- α pro-inflammatory effect has been shown in HUVEC.



Figure 4.4. Effect of TNF-α on ICAM-1 mRNA expression level compared to control group treated with 0.5% DMSO. HUVEC were pre-treated with different concentrations of TNF-α for four hours. Data was represented by mean±standard deviation. One-way Anova was used to compare groups (n=3). * represents significant differences (p<0.05).

4.3. EVALUATING THE EFFECT OF NON-TARGETED AND TARGETED DELIVERY OF ATORVASTATIN IN mRNA EXPRESSION OF eNOS IN PRE-TREATED HUVECS

To examine the effect of Atorv and ICAM-1-APT-Atorv-MCM41 on eNOS mRNA expression, we firstly activated HUVEC by inducing with 20 ng TNF- α for 6 h. Then HUVEC cells were pre-treated with different concentrations (1nM, 2nM, 2 μ M and 5 μ M) of Atorv drug and ICAM-1-APT-Atorv-MCM41 targeted drug delivery system for 24 hours. We measure mRNA level using RT-PCR. The results were normalized to β -actin. We determined that TNF- α tend to reduce eNOS level compared to control group. In addition,

Atorv and ICAM-1-APT-Atorv-MCM41 targeted drug delivery system showed tendency in increasing of eNOS mRNA level dose dependently compared to TNF- α stimulated group. Also, we observed that pretreatment of HUVEC with ICAM-1-APT-Atorv-MCM41 had tendency to more increase mRNA expression of eNOS dose dependently compared to Atorv pretreated groups as shown in Figure 4.3. The results of this study show that although there is not significantly increases more increased in eNOS mRNA level was observed in HUVEC group pretreated with Atorv targeted and controlled release drug delivery system.



Figure 4.5. Effect of targeted and non-targeted delivery of Atorvastatin on eNOS mRNA expression in TNF-α pre-treated HUVEC. HUVEC were treated with different concentrations of Atorv drug and ICAM-1-APT-Atorv-MCM41 targeted drug delivery system. Data was represented by mean±standard deviation. T-test was used to compare groups (n=2/4).

4.4. THE EFFECT OF TARGETED AND NON-TARGETED DELIVERY OF ATORVASTATIN ON PROTEIN LEVEL OF eNOS AND p-Akt IN PRE-TREATED HUVECS

Following, effect of both non-targeted and targeted atorvastatin delivery on p-Akt/eNOS pathway was observed to demonstrate therapeutic efficiency of nanoparticle based targeted drug delivery system when compared to non-targeted drug delivery. Here, in vitro targeted and non-targeted delivery of Atorv was evaluated in HUVEC activated by 6 hours TNF- α . The effect of Atorv and ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 on protein expression of eNOS and p-Akt were determined. The results were normalized to β eta-actin. According to results of Western Blot, TNF- α tend to reduced level of total eNOS compared to control group. Also, both only Atorv and ICAM1 APT-Atorv-MCM41 respectively 1.8 and 1.73 fold increased total eNOS protein level when compared to TNF- α treated group (Figure 4.6; Figure 4.7).

In addition, 1 nM Atorv and ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 drug delivery system increased eNOS level respectively 1.3 and 1.2 fold when compared to TNF- α stimulated HUVEC. Also 2 nM Atorv and ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 drug delivery system raised level of eNOS 1.3 and 1.6 fold respectively comparing to TNF- α group. 2 μ M and 5 μ M concentration of only Atorv increased eNOS protein level 1.1 and 1.19 fold however 2 μ M and 5 μ M ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 drug delivery system increased total eNOS level 1.2 and 1.69 fold compared to TNF- α group as shown in Figure 4.7. Besides, 2 μ M of ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 drug delivery system increased protein level of total eNOS 1.43 fold when compared to 2 μ M only Atorv and also 5 μ M ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 drug delivery system increased protein level of total eNOS 1.43 fold when compared to 2 μ M only Atorv and also 5 μ M ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 drug delivery system 1.41 fold increased eNOS protein level when compared to Atorv (Figure 4.7).

In addition, as shown in Figure 4.8, 1 nM and 5 μ M concentration of Atorv and ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 drug pre-treatment leaded to increase of p-Akt protein level significantly when compared to only TNF- α stimulated group. Also, 2 μ M concentration of ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 significantly increased p-Akt protein expression comparing to TNF- α stimulated group (Figure 4.8). In addition, 2 μ M and 5 μ M concentration of ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM-41 significantly increased protein level of p-Akt when compared to 2 μ M and 5 μ M Atorv pre-treated groups as shown in Figure 4.8. Targeted atorvastatin drug delivery system (ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM41) was significantly up-regulated Akt phosphorylation in pre-atherosclerotic HUVEC. These results showed that targeted and controlled atorvastatin drug release system is more effective than only Atorv drug to increase eNOS and p-Akt level.



Figure 4.6. Concentration-dependent manner of eNOS and p-Akt protein level. After 6 h TNF-α activation, HUVEC were pre-treated with Atorv and APT-Atorv-MCM-41 for 24 h and Western Blot analysis was carried out using eNOS and p-Akt antibody. (A:Atorv; AA:ICAM-1 APT-Atorv-MCM41)



Figure 4.7. Effect of targeted and non-targeted delivery of Atorvastatin on eNOS protein level in 6 h TNF- α pre-treated HUVEC. For statistical analysis, one-way Anova and t-test were performed to compare groups (n=3/4). Data was represented by mean±standard error.



Figure 4.8. Effect of targeted and non-targeted delivery of Atorvastatin on p-Akt protein level in 6 hours TNF-α pre-treated HUVEC. Data was represented by mean±standard error. One-way Anova was used while comparing 3 groups (Control, TNF-α and treatments) and t-test was used to compare two groups (between treatments) for statistical analysis.
*represents significant difference compared to TNF-α control group and #represents significant difference compared to treatment group (*p<0.05, #p<0.05, n=3/8).

5. DISCUSSION

Atherosclerosis is major contributor for developing of CVD such as myocardial infarction and stroke. There are various drug treatments that are applied to prevent heart diseases such as atherosclerosis, hyperlipidemia and hypertension in order to restrain the development of thrombotic complications [200]. Atherosclerosis remains to be the number one cause of death in worldwide, despite of the various researches that is conducted and clinically tested to prevent it [214]. Besides, there is no available drug therapy to date to directly target and suppress the molecular mechanisms of inflammation. For example, the drugs that are currently used for therapeutic prevention of atherosclerosis are consumed orally resulting in non-specific distribution of drugs which are able to cause strong side effects and requires long-term usage [199]. Therefore, there is a need for more efficient and safer treatment strategies to directly target the inflammation area to prevent the process of developing of atherosclerosis [215]. In addition, inflammation site targeted nanomedicines seem very attractive approaches for diagnosis, monitoring, and treatment for all stages of atherosclerosis [216]. Moreover, nanoparticles based drug delivery can overcome few drawbacks such as toxicity, water non-soluble and poor bioavailability of drugs [217]. Nanoparticles are successfully applied both in vivo and in vitro drug delivery, imaging of disease region, anticancer drugs, biological tagging application and research [215].

TEM imaging technique was used to characterize MCM-41 mesoporous silica nanoparticles. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles MCM-41 hexagonal characteristics were revealed using TEM imaging in Figure 4.1 [213].

To determine biological effect of MCM-41 silica nanoparticle on HUVEC, cell viability assay was done. Previously, 25 and 50 μ g/ml silica nanoparticles have not shown any toxic effect on endothelial cells however 200 μ g/ml concentrations decreased cell viability to 82.3 percent when compared to control group [218]. In the current study, all doses did not show cytotoxic effect on HUVEC in Figure 4.2.

The attachment of Apt-NP-FI targeted system was determined on HUVEC. We have shown that ICAM-1 aptamer conjugated silica nanoparticles have been attached on HUVEC under fluorescence microscopy as shown in Figure 4.3. This result revealed that this targeted nanoparticle is able to attached ICAM-1 expressed on pre-atherosclerotic endothelial cells model.

After that, we have studied the pro-atherosclerotic effect of TNF- α on HUVEC by determining expression of adhesion protein like ICAM-1. In the previous study it has been shown that ICAM-1 expression was increased in HUVEC treated with TNF- α for four hours [219]. Another study showed that ICAM-1 mRNA expression significantly increased after six hours incubation with TNF- α [220]. Previously, it has been determined that adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1 expression were increased by TNF- α [221, 222]. Similarly, we also determined that TNF- α significantly stimulated expression of ICAM-1 in HUVEC. 10 and 20 ng/ml concentrations of TNF- α significantly was increased expression of ICAM-1 for four hours as shown in Figure 4.4. TNF- α is a critical pro-inflammatory cytokine and in this study TNF- α has been used to stimulate pro-inflammatory condition in endothelial cells to study effect of atorvastatin.

Then the one of the most important pleiotropic effect of atorvastatin, upregulating eNOS gene expression, in endothelial cells was studied. Previously, Dang et al. has shown that atorvastatin had no effect on cell viability of HUVEC treated with different doses (1, 10, 20 and 50 μ M) of atorvastatin [223]. eNOS mRNA expression level and protein level were determined respectively with RT-PCR and Western blot in order to evaluate the therapeutic efficiency of ICAM-1 Apt-Atorv-MCM41 drug delivery system when compared to nontargeted delivery of atorvastatin. Both targeted and non-targeted delivery of atorvastatin did not affect significantly mRNA expression and protein level of total eNOS as shown in Figure 4.5, 4.6 and 4.7. However, RT-PCR and Western blot results showed that eNOS level tended to reduce in TNF-α treated HUVEC compared to control group. In addition, although both Atorv and ICAM-1 Apt-Atorv-MCM41 showed tendency to increase level of eNOS however ICAM-1 Apt-Atorv-MCM41 tended to increase more the mRNA and protein level of eNOS comparing to Atorv treated HUVEC. In a study by Loboda et al. 0.1 µM concentration of atorvastatin increased eNOS expression in human microvascular endothelial cells [158]. Previously, pretreatment of HUVEC which treated with ox-LDL with different concentration (0.01, 0.1 and 1 µmol/l) of rosuvastatin leaded to significantly increasing in level of phosphorylation of eNOS (p-eNOS s1177) however total eNOS amount did not changed [224]. In another study, Western blot analysis showed that 0.1 and 1 µM concentration of pitavastatin significantly increased phosphorylation of eNOS and

total eNOS level has not been changed [225]. Another study also showed that 1µM simvastatin enhanced p-eNOS on Ser¹¹⁷⁷ however has not changed total eNOS level in rat mesenteric artery [226]. However, another study evaluated that 1 µmol/L concentration of simvastatin and 10 µmol/L concentration of lovastatin significantly increased total eNOS level in ox-LDL treated human saphenous vein endothelial cells [227]. Next, we studied the efficiency of ICAM-1-Apt-Atorv-MCM41 in the up-regulation of p-Akt (Ser473) protein level which is important protein for eNOS activation. Akt is important protein for expression and activation of eNOS. In the present study, we observed that p-Akt (Ser473) level tended to reduce in TNF- α treated HUVEC compared to control group. In addition, although both Atorv and ICAM-1 Apt-Atorv-MCM41 significantly increased level of p-Akt (Ser473) when compared to TNF-a treated HUVEC group. Also, ICAM-1 Apt-Atorv-MCM41 targeted drug delivery system significantly enhanced protein level of p-Akt (Ser473) comparing to Atorv treated HUVEC (Figure 4.7). Previously, it has been evaluated that 10 and 30 µmol/L atorvastatin increased p-Akt level in HUVEC [155]. Another study showed that atorvastatin, pravastatin and pitavastatin enhanced eNOS expression dose dependently (10, 30 and 100 nmol/L) and 100 nmol/L atorvastatin increased expression of p-Akt at Ser473. The result of this study indicated that statin increased eNOS level via p-Akt pathway [157]. NO which is product of eNOS has significant role in maintaining vascular tone with its anti-inflammatory effects. Therefore, providing NO bioavailability is essential for preventing development of atherosclerosis. Instead of LDL lowering effect statin drugs have different protective effect and eNOS activation pathway is one of these repair effects [228, 229]. However, statin drugs have serious adverse effects such as myopathy, neurological and metabolic damages [167]. For this reason, in this study we tried to develop drug delivery system that safely delivery drug to disease side by this way increasing therapeutic efficiency while reducing side effects. We showed that targeted delivery of atorvastatin showed higher efficiency by increasing level of eNOS and p-Akt in TNF- α treated HUVEC. Previously, it has been shown that Akt signaling pathway has roles in expression and activation of eNOS [224, 230, 231].

There are also different nanoparticles-based studies to prevent development of atherosclerosis and prevent cardiovascular diseases. Macrophages and leukocytes targeting drug loaded nanoparticles are another strategy to keep their pro-inflammatory effects under control to prevent development of atherosclerosis.

Some studies are focused on developed nanoparticles with imaging agents for the detection of atherosclerotic plaque especially in the early stages which is also called "silent plaque" that is difficult to detect [214]. In this manner, Yao et al. studied the detection of connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) which is expressed in atherosclerotic plaque thus imaging atherosclerotic lesion in vivo ApoE-deficient (apoE^{-/-}) mice, which are types of atherosclerosis developed mice model, by developing connective tissue growth factor conjugated-polyethylene glycol coated ultra-small super-paramagnetic iron oxides (Anti-CTGF-USPIO) [232]. Muhammed et al. investigated the cardio-protective effect of ethyl acetate fraction of P.emodi loaded gold nanoparticle (Pe.EA40-AuNPs) [233]. In another study, PEG functionalized 5-aminolevulinic acid loaded AuNps (ALA:AuNPs) were utilized as therapeutic drug delivery approach for early diagnosis of atherosclerosis [234]. Zhu et al. took another approach to observe the prevention effect and mechanism of selenium quantum dots (SeQDs) *in vivo* using atherosclerotic $Apo^{-/-}$ mice model [235]. Most research are used chemotherapeutic drugs as their anti-inflammatory feature for preventing vascular inflammation [236].

In another study, it is claimed that anti-cancer drugs have anti-atherosclerotic action therefore docetaxel, anti-cancer drug, loaded lipid core nanoparticle as vesicle (LDE-DXT) was fabricated and the study showed that LDE-DXT has anti-atherosclerotic action *in vivo* using cholesterol-fed rabbit [237].

Platelets attachment to inflamed endothelial cells especially after rupturing of vulnerable plaque is important process for development of atherosclerosis resulting in thrombotic complications.

In this manner, Song et al. studied specificity and effective treatment of platelet mimicking drug therapy by developing platelet membrane coated rapamaycin encapsulated nanoparticles (RAP-PNP) by carrying out in ApoE^{-/-} mice model. Spyropoulos-Antonakakis et al. developed polyamidoamine dendrimer conjugated with zinc phthalocyanine (PAMAM/ZnPc) in order to study nano-drug distribution effectiveness and

therapeutic efficiency of PAMAM with ZnPc photosensitizer [238]. Iron oxide nanoparticles have fundamental (intrinsic) imaging properties and can be modified for drug delivery [239]. Poon et al. studied the potential imaging of vulnerable atherosclerotic plaque by developing non-invasive MRI technique by engineered fibrin-binding peptide conjugated metal oxide encapsulated micelles [240]. Furthermore, integrin $\alpha 4\beta 1$ antagonist, which is leukocyte receptor resulting in binding of leukocyte to adhesion molecules on endothelial cells, incorporated liposomal Gd contrast agent, MR imaging agent, was used to image atherosclerotic plague as overall [241]. Li et al. also studied the detection of atherosclerosis by MR imaging system using tenascin-C-targeted-ultra-small super-paramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles [242]. Another study was focused on the treatment of atherosclerosis by developing curcumin which is spice turmeric extraction loaded linear-dendrimer copolymer nanoparticles [243]. Gomes et al. used anti-cancer chemotherapeutic drug such as paclitaxel in lipid core nanoparticles for restricting high atherosclerotic lesion [236].

There are various targeting methods to use nanoparticles in the diagnosis and treatment of atherosclerosis. During circulation of drugs throughout blood, endothelium is excessively exposed to drugs however without targeting the drugs can be taken up by healthy cells. Therefore, nanoparticles loaded with drugs can be conjugated with determinants which are specific for endothelial cells.

Besides to therapeutic usage, nanoparticles can also be used to modify by conjugating peptides, aptamers, antibodies or another ligands which can target molecules in disease region [244]. Two main cause of the failure of therapeutic drugs in the treatment of atherosclerosis are the short bioavailability and inability selection of targeted tissue. In this manner, target molecule attached drug encapsulated nanoparticles are able to place atherosclerotic region [245].

Combination of targeting markers which are only found in disease site with nanoparticles provides powerful diagnostic strategy for delivering of nanomedicine for atherosclerosis [246]. Different peptides which are expressed on endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, monocytes and macrophages have been studied and pre-clinically tested for atherosclerosis [247].

Adhesion molecules are frequently used as targeting peptide and have been identified as therapeutic target for managing inflammation. Endothelial cells are stimulated to express ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin adhesion molecules on their surfaces during endothelial dysfunction [56]. These adhesion molecules have roles in binding of leukocytes to endothelial cells. Kelly et al. developed VHSPNKK peptide, which was specific to bind VCAM-1 on inflamed endothelial cells, carrying multimodal nanoparticles to images inflamed endothelial cells in vitro by confocal microscope and in vivo atherosclerotic lesion detection in ApoE^{-/-} mice via MRI [248]. Imanparast et al. utilized modified ZD7349 peptide conjugated simvastation loaded poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticle and the effectiveness of this mZD7349-SIM-PLGA-NPs on eNOS phosphorylation (peNOS) was evaluated in TNF- α activated HUVEC. ZD7349 peptide is an antogonist for inhibiting the binding of VLA-4 (very late antigen-4), which is expressed on monocyte and has role in recruitment of monocyte by interacting with ICAM-1, to ICAM-1 [196]. Krishna et al. investigated the effect of an ionic nanoliposome application, which consists phospholipid bilayers, to prevent dyslipidemia in low-density lipoprotein knock-out mice $(Ldlr^{-})$. It was suggested that nanoliposome and plasma lipoprotein interaction could be a mechanism to promote the purification of LDL from blood due to the quick uptake of nanoliposome by liver which is the excretion organ of LDL. Dyslipidemia is the abundance of lipoprotein in blood therefore it is a main initiative factor in atherosclerosis [249]. Coating surface of nano-carrier with antibodies against ICAM-1 (anti-ICAM-1) could be a target for drug delivery systems however large targeting protein may lead to induction of immune response that can damage the explication of therapeutic effects. In this context, Carmen Garnacho and his colleagues (2011) reported that γ 3 nanocarriers (NCs) targeted ICAM-1 with specificity similar to the anti-ICAM-1 NC using short peptide derived from fibringen (γ 3) which is a natural ligand of ICAM-1. In addition, internalization of γ 3 NCs by cells both in vitro (HUVEC) and in vivo (C57BL/6) was observed while cell junctions remained undisturbed [250]. Aanei et al. utilized VCAM-1 attached MS2 viral capsid nanocarrier to detect atherosclerotic lesion at early stages by applying on ApoE knockout mice [251]. Calin et al. improved VCAM-1 recognizing peptide conjugated Teijin compound 1 which is a human chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 2 (CCR2) antagonist, encapsulated liposome nanocarrier in order to inhibit adhesion of monocytes to inflamed region on endothelium [252]. Due to short half-life and vasculature protective features of NO, it is crucial to supply NO to inflamed region. Therefore, Rink et al. developed NO

delivering high density lipoprotein nanoparticle to supply distribution of NO donor to inflamed region [253]. Robbins et al. studied to improve strong adhesion of polymers one by designing leuko-polymer some which was developed using two adhesion molecules, Pselectin and ICAM-1, attached polymersome and applied on shear stress stimulated inflamed HUVEC in order to establish polymersomes based drug delivery system [254]. It has been demonstrated that ROS have a significant role in proceed of atherosclerosis therefore this could be another way for targeting. Nakhlbanda et al. utilized a different approach to investigate protective effect of Marrubiin, an antioxidant and water-soluble drug, on the generation of ROS by loading this drug inside solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) in order to increase not only pharmacokinetics but also bioavailability of drugs for the treatment of atherosclerosis [255]. Combining water-soluble drugs with nanoparticles results in enhanced bioavailability of drugs inside aqueous environment as well as improves therapeutic effect. All these studies show that there are different nanoparticlesbased approaches to detect and prevent atherosclerotic plaque.

6. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, disease site specific nanoparticle encapsulating drug delivery has proceeded a significant strategy for prevention of cardiovascular related diseases. In this study, therapeutic efficiency of atorvastatin via ICAM-1 Apt-Atorv-MSNP drug delivery system was studied by comparing with non-targeted delivery of atorvastatin.

Mostly studies using nanotechnology for atherosclerosis focused on detection of atherosclerosis plaque development. However, therapeutic approaches for prevention of atherosclerosis took less attention and there are only a few studies using this kind of perspective. In this thesis a novel targeted drug delivery system, ICAM-1 Apt-Atorv-MSNP drug delivery system is developed to prevent atherosclerosis at the early phase. This novel targeted drug delivery system can increase the efficacy of statin via increasing the dose in the inflammation area on artery and lead to protection for endothelial cells. ICAM-1 aptamer conjugated atorvastatin encapsulating mesoporous silica nanoparticle drug delivery of may provide new therapeutic approach for suppress atherosclerosis in this way preventing clinical symptoms like heart attack or stroke.

REFERENCES

- Iaizzo PA. Handbook of cardiac anatomy, physiology, and devices. Totowa, N.J.: Humana Press; 2005.
- Glagov S, Vito R, Giddens DP, Zarins CK. Micro-architecture and composition of artery walls: relationship to location, diameter and the distribution of mechanical stress. *Journal of Hypertension Supplement*. 1992;10(6):S101-4.
- Standring S BNR, Collins P., Crossman AR, Gatzoulis MA, Healy JC, Johnson D, Mahadevan V, Newell RL. M, Wigley C. *Gray's Anatomy*. 40 ed. Spain: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2008:1503.
- 4. Marieb EN. Human anatomy & physiology. New York: Benjamin Cummings; 2012.
- Roth GA, Forouzanfar MH, Moran AE, Barber R, Nguyen G, Feigin VL, et al. Demographic and epidemiologic drivers of global cardiovascular mortality. *N Engl J Med.* 2015;372(14):1333-41.
- Barquera S, Pedroza-Tobias A, Medina C, Hernandez-Barrera L, Bibbins-Domingo K, Lozano R, et al. Global overview of the epidemiology of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Arch Med Res.* 2015;46(5):328-38.
- Moran AE, Roth GA, Narula J, Mensah GA. 1990-2010 global cardiovascular disease atlas. *Glob Heart*. 2014;9(1):3-16.
- 8. Moss JW, Ramji DP. Cytokines: roles in atherosclerosis disease progression and potential therapeutic targets. *Future Med Chem*. 2016;8(11):1317-30.
- Rojas J, Salazar J, Martinez MS, Palmar J, Bautista J, Chavez-Castillo M, et al. Macrophage Heterogeneity and Plasticity: Impact of Macrophage Biomarkers on Atherosclerosis. *Scientifica (Cairo)*. 2015;2015:851252.
- Alaarg A, Senders ML, Varela-Moreira A, Perez-Medina C, Zhao Y, Tang J, et al. A systematic comparison of clinically viable nanomedicines targeting HMG-CoA reductase in inflammatory atherosclerosis. *J Control Release*. 2017;262:47-57.
- Benjamin EJ, Virani SS, Callaway CW, Chamberlain AM, Chang AR, Cheng S, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2018 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2018;137(12):e67-e492.
- Causes of Death Statistics, 2017 TURSKISH STATISTICAL INSTITUTE2018 [Available from: http://www.turkstat.gov.tr/HbPrint.do?id=27620.
- 13. Muller-Nordhorn J, Binting S, Roll S, Willich SN. An update on regional variation in cardiovascular mortality within Europe. *Eur Heart J*. 2008;29(10):1316-26.
- Onat A, Ugur M, Tuncer M, Ayhan E, Kaya Z, Kucukdurmaz Z, et al. [Age at death in the Turkish Adult Risk Factor Study: temporal trend and regional distribution at 56,700 person-years' follow-up]. *Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars*. 2009;37(3):155-60.
- Tasci C, Ozcelik N. An Overview on Coronary Heart Disease (A Comparative Evaluation of Turkey and Europe) and Cost-effectiveness of Diagnostic Strategies. *Mol Imaging Radionucl Ther*. 2011;20(3):75-93.
- 16. RISK OF PREMATUREDEATH DUE TO NCDS (%)-TURKEY [Internet]. World Health Organization - Noncommunicable Diseases (NCD) Country Profiles. 2018.
- Balbay Y, Gagnon-Arpin I, Malhan S, Oksuz ME, Sutherland G, Dobrescu A, et al. Modeling the burden of cardiovascular disease in Turkey. *Anatol J Cardiol*. 2018;20(4):235-40.

- Causes of Death Statistics, 2017 TURKISH STATISTICAL ENSTITUES2018 [Available from: http://www.turkstat.gov.tr/HbPrint.do?id=27620
- Koo YE, Song J, Bae S. Use of Plant and Herb Derived Medicine for Therapeutic Usage in Cardiology. *Medicines (Basel)*. 2018;5(2).
- 20. Singh RB, Mengi SA, Xu YJ, Arneja AS, Dhalla NS. Pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: A multifactorial process. *Exp Clin Cardiol*. 2002;7(1):40-53.
- Schmidt-Trucksass A, Grathwohl D, Schmid A, Boragk R, Upmeier C, Keul J, et al. Structural, functional, and hemodynamic changes of the common carotid artery with age in male subjects. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1999;19(4):1091-7.
- 22. Zhou J, Li YS, Chien S. Shear stress-initiated signaling and its regulation of endothelial function. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2014;34(10):2191-8.
- 23. Ishibazawa A, Nagaoka T, Yokota H, Ono S, Yoshida A. Low shear stress upregulation of proinflammatory gene expression in human retinal microvascular endothelial cells. *Experimental Eye Research*. 2013;116:308-11.
- 24. Tabas I, Garcia-Cardena G, Owens GK. Recent insights into the cellular biology of atherosclerosis. *J Cell Biol*. 2015;209(1):13-22.
- Li YS, Haga JH, Chien S. Molecular basis of the effects of shear stress on vascular endothelial cells. *J Biomech*. 2005;38(10):1949-71.
- 26. Insull W, Jr. The pathology of atherosclerosis: plaque development and plaque responses to medical treatment. *Am J Med.* 2009;122(1 Suppl):S3-S14.
- 27. Chen XP, Xun KL, Wu Q, Zhang TT, Shi JS, Du GH. Oxidized low density lipoprotein receptor-1 mediates oxidized low density lipoprotein-induced apoptosis

in human umbilical vein endothelial cells: role of reactive oxygen species. *Vascul Pharmacol*. 2007;47(1):1-9.

- Sangle GV, Zhao R, Shen GX. Transmembrane signaling pathway mediates oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in vascular endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*. 2008;295(5):E1243-54.
- 29. Di X, Tang X, Di X. Montelukast inhibits oxidized low-density lipoproteins (ox-LDL) induced vascular endothelial attachment: An implication for the treatment of atherosclerosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2017;486(1):58-62.
- Fenyo IM, Gafencu AV. The involvement of the monocytes/macrophages in chronic inflammation associated with atherosclerosis. *Immunobiology*. 2013;218(11):1376-84.
- 31. Zhang M, Jiang L. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein decreases VEGFR2 expression in HUVECs and impairs angiogenesis. *Exp Ther Med.* 2016;12(6):3742-8.
- 32. De Keulenaer GW, Chappell DC, Ishizaka N, Nerem RM, Alexander RW, Griendling KK. Oscillatory and steady laminar shear stress differentially affect human endothelial redox state: role of a superoxide-producing NADH oxidase. *Circ Res.* 1998;82(10):1094-101.
- 33. Dekker RJ, van Soest S, Fontijn RD, Salamanca S, de Groot PG, VanBavel E, et al. Prolonged fluid shear stress induces a distinct set of endothelial cell genes, most specifically lung Kruppel-like factor (KLF2). *Blood*. 2002;100(5):1689-98.
- Liu Y, Chen BP, Lu M, Zhu Y, Stemerman MB, Chien S, et al. Shear stress activation of SREBP1 in endothelial cells is mediated by integrins. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2002;22(1):76-81.

- 35. Chen C, Khismatullin DB. Synergistic effect of histamine and TNF-alpha on monocyte adhesion to vascular endothelial cells. *Inflammation*. 2013;36(2):309-19.
- Groh L, Keating ST, Joosten LAB, Netea MG, Riksen NP. Monocyte and macrophage immunometabolism in atherosclerosis. *Semin Immunopathol*. 2018;40(2):203-14.
- Chistiakov DA, Orekhov AN, Bobryshev YV. LOX-1-Mediated Effects on Vascular Cells in Atherosclerosis. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. 2016;38(5):1851-9.
- 38. Vinchi F, Muckenthaler MU, Da Silva MC, Balla G, Balla J, Jeney V. Atherogenesis and iron: from epidemiology to cellular level. *Front Pharmacol*. 2014;5:94.
- Chrobok NL, Sestito C, Wilhelmus MM, Drukarch B, van Dam AM. Is monocyteand macrophage-derived tissue transglutaminase involved in inflammatory processes? *Amino Acids*. 2017;49(3):441-52.
- Sucosky P, Balachandran K, Elhammali A, Jo H, Yoganathan AP. Altered shear stress stimulates upregulation of endothelial VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 in a BMP-4- and TGF-beta1-dependent pathway. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2009;29(2):254-60.
- Jin ZG, Ueba H, Tanimoto T, Lungu AO, Frame MD, Berk BC. Ligand-independent activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 by fluid shear stress regulates activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circ Res.* 2003;93(4):354-63.
- 42. Malek AM, Izumo S. Mechanism of endothelial cell shape change and cytoskeletal remodeling in response to fluid shear stress. *J Cell Sci*. 1996;109 (Pt 4):713-26.
- 43. van der Meer AD, Poot AA, Duits MH, Feijen J, Vermes I. Microfluidic technology in vascular research. *J Biomed Biotechnol*. 2009;2009:823148.

- Boon RA, Leyen TA, Fontijn RD, Fledderus JO, Baggen JM, Volger OL, et al. KLF2-induced actin shear fibers control both alignment to flow and JNK signaling in vascular endothelium. *Blood*. 2010;115(12):2533-42.
- 45. Galbraith CG, Skalak R, Chien S. Shear stress induces spatial reorganization of the endothelial cell cytoskeleton. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*. 1998;40(4):317-30.
- 46. Sampath R, Kukielka GL, Smith CW, Eskin SG, McIntire LV. Shear stress-mediated changes in the expression of leukocyte adhesion receptors on human umbilical vein endothelial cells in vitro. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 1995;23(3):247-56.
- 47. Zhang J, Kong X, Wang Z, Gao X, Ge Z, Gu Y, et al. AMP-activated protein kinase regulates glycocalyx impairment and macrophage recruitment in response to low shear stress. *Faseb J*. 2019:fj201801869RRR.
- 48. Fisher AB, Chien S, Barakat AI, Nerem RM. Endothelial cellular response to altered shear stress. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 2001;281(3):L529-33.
- 49. Guo F, Li X, Peng J, Tang Y, Yang Q, Liu L, et al. Autophagy regulates vascular endothelial cell eNOS and ET-1 expression induced by laminar shear stress in an ex vivo perfused system. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2014;42(9):1978-88.
- Cerda A, Fajardo CM, Basso RG, Hirata MH, Hirata RD. Role of microRNAs 221/222 on statin induced nitric oxide release in human endothelial cells. *Arq Bras Cardiol.* 2015;104(3):195-201.
- 51. Dong G, Yang S, Cao X, Yu N, Yu J, Qu X. Low shear stressinduced autophagy alleviates cell apoptosis in HUVECs. *Mol Med Rep.* 2017;15(5):3076-82.
- 52. Nam D, Ni CW, Rezvan A, Suo J, Budzyn K, Llanos A, et al. Partial carotid ligation is a model of acutely induced disturbed flow, leading to rapid endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2009;297(4):H1535-43.

- Wang N, Miao H, Li YS, Zhang P, Haga JH, Hu Y, et al. Shear stress regulation of Kruppel-like factor 2 expression is flow pattern-specific. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2006;341(4):1244-51.
- Kusunose J, Zhang H, Gagnon MK, Pan T, Simon SI, Ferrara KW. Microfluidic system for facilitated quantification of nanoparticle accumulation to cells under laminar flow. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2013;41(1):89-99.
- 55. Rautou PE, Leroyer AS, Ramkhelawon B, Devue C, Duflaut D, Vion AC, et al. Microparticles from human atherosclerotic plaques promote endothelial ICAM-1dependent monocyte adhesion and transendothelial migration. *Circ Res.* 2011;108(3):335-43.
- 56. Tzima E, Irani-Tehrani M, Kiosses WB, Dejana E, Schultz DA, Engelhardt B, et al. A mechanosensory complex that mediates the endothelial cell response to fluid shear stress. *Nature*. 2005;437(7057):426-31.
- Chatzizisis YS, Coskun AU, Jonas M, Edelman ER, Feldman CL, Stone PH. Role of endothelial shear stress in the natural history of coronary atherosclerosis and vascular remodeling: molecular, cellular, and vascular behavior. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2007;49(25):2379-93.
- 58. Ishibazawa A, Nagaoka T, Yokota H, Ono S, Yoshida A. Low shear stress upregulation of proinflammatory gene expression in human retinal microvascular endothelial cells. *Exp Eye Res*. 2013;116:308-11.
- Chappell DC, Varner SE, Nerem RM, Medford RM, Alexander RW. Oscillatory shear stress stimulates adhesion molecule expression in cultured human endothelium. *Circ Res.* 1998;82(5):532-9.

- 60. Katharina Urschel IC. TNF-α in the cardiovascular system: from physiology to therapy. *International Journal of Interferon, Cytokine and Mediator Research* 2015;9–25(7):17.
- Qin B, Shu Y, Xiao L, Lu T, Lin Y, Yang H, et al. MicroRNA-150 targets ELK1 and modulates the apoptosis induced by ox-LDL in endothelial cells. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2017;429(1-2):45-58.
- Feingold KR, Grunfeld C. Introduction to Lipids and Lipoproteins. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, Chrousos G, Dungan K, Grossman A, et al., editors. *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA)2000.
- 63. Kume N, Arai H, Kawai C, Kita T. Receptors for modified low-density lipoproteins on human endothelial cells: different recognition for acetylated low-density lipoprotein and oxidized low-density lipoprotein. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1991;1091(1):63-7.
- 64. Zmyslowski A, Szterk A. Current knowledge on the mechanism of atherosclerosis and pro-atherosclerotic properties of oxysterols. *Lipids Health Dis.* 2017;16(1):188.
- Bobryshev YV, Ivanova EA, Chistiakov DA, Nikiforov NG, Orekhov AN. Macrophages and Their Role in Atherosclerosis: Pathophysiology and Transcriptome Analysis. *Biomed Res Int*. 2016;2016:9582430.
- 66. Deshmane SL, Kremlev S, Amini S, Sawaya BE. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1): an overview. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*. 2009;29(6):313-26.
- 67. Chu W, Guan L, Huang D, Ren Y, Zhou Y. Lovastatin exerts protective effects on endothelial cells via upregulation of PTK2B. *Exp Ther Med.* 2016;12(3):1741-9.
- 68. Cominacini L, Pasini AF, Garbin U, Davoli A, Tosetti ML, Campagnola M, et al. Oxidized low density lipoprotein (ox-LDL) binding to ox-LDL receptor-1 in

endothelial cells induces the activation of NF-kappaB through an increased production of intracellular reactive oxygen species. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(17):12633-8.

- 69. Ahsan A, Han G, Pan J, Liu S, Padhiar AA, Chu P, et al. Phosphocreatine protects endothelial cells from oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced apoptosis by modulating the PI3K/Akt/eNOS pathway. *Apoptosis*. 2015;20(12):1563-76.
- Khan BV, Parthasarathy SS, Alexander RW, Medford RM. Modified low density lipoprotein and its constituents augment cytokine-activated vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 gene expression in human vascular endothelial cells. *J Clin Invest*. 1995;95(3):1262-70.
- Su Q, Sun Y, Ye Z, Yang H, Kong B, Li L. Pinocembrin protects endothelial cells from oxidized LDL-induced injury. *Cytokine*. 2018;111:475-80.
- 72. Salvayre R, Auge N, Benoist H, Negre-Salvayre A. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced apoptosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2002;1585(2-3):213-21.
- 73. Mudau M, Genis A, Lochner A, Strijdom H. Endothelial dysfunction: the early predictor of atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc J Afr.* 2012;23(4):222-31.
- 74. Dandapat A, Hu C, Sun L, Mehta JL. Small concentrations of oxLDL induce capillary tube formation from endothelial cells via LOX-1-dependent redox-sensitive pathway. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2007;27(11):2435-42.
- 75. Morawietz H, Duerrschmidt N, Niemann B, Galle J, Sawamura T, Holtz J. Augmented endothelial uptake of oxidized low-density lipoprotein in response to endothelin-1. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. 2002;103 Suppl 48:9S-12S.
- 76. Xu S, Ogura S, Chen J, Little PJ, Moss J, Liu P. LOX-1 in atherosclerosis: biological functions and pharmacological modifiers. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2013;70(16):2859-72.

- 77. Witztum JL. The role of oxidized LDL in atherosclerosis. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 1991;285:353-65.
- Italiani P, Boraschi D. From monocytes to M1/M2 macrophages: phenotypical vs. functional differentiation. *Front Immunol*. 2014;5:514.
- Omolola Eniola A, Hammer DA. In vitro characterization of leukocyte mimetic for targeting therapeutics to the endothelium using two receptors. *Biomaterials*. 2005;26(34):7136-44.
- 80. Ley K, Miller YI, Hedrick CC. Monocyte and macrophage dynamics during atherogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31(7):1506-16.
- 81. Bekkering S, Quintin J, Joosten LA, van der Meer JW, Netea MG, Riksen NP. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein induces long-term proinflammatory cytokine production and foam cell formation via epigenetic reprogramming of monocytes. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2014;34(8):1731-8.
- Moore KJ, Tabas I. Macrophages in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Cell*. 2011;145(3):341-55.
- Wolfs IM, Donners MM, de Winther MP. Differentiation factors and cytokines in the atherosclerotic plaque micro-environment as a trigger for macrophage polarisation. *Thromb Haemost*. 2011;106(5):763-71.
- Moore KJ, Sheedy FJ, Fisher EA. Macrophages in atherosclerosis: a dynamic balance. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2013;13(10):709-21.
- 85. Kleinbongard P, Heusch G, Schulz R. TNFalpha in atherosclerosis, myocardial ischemia/reperfusion and heart failure. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2010;127(3):295-314.

- Parameswaran N, Patial S. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha signaling in macrophages. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr. 2010;20(2):87-103.
- Maini RN, Elliott MJ, Brennan FM, Feldmann M. Beneficial effects of tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) blockade in rheumatoid arthritis (RA). *Clin Exp Immunol*. 1995;101(2):207-12.
- Horrevoets AJ, Fontijn RD, van Zonneveld AJ, de Vries CJ, ten Cate JW, Pannekoek H. Vascular endothelial genes that are responsive to tumor necrosis factor-alpha in vitro are expressed in atherosclerotic lesions, including inhibitor of apoptosis protein-1, stannin, and two novel genes. *Blood.* 1999;93(10):3418-31.
- Salkowski CA, Detore G, McNally R, van Rooijen N, Vogel SN. Regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase messenger RNA expression and nitric oxide production by lipopolysaccharide in vivo: the roles of macrophages, endogenous IFN-gamma, and TNF receptor-1-mediated signaling. *J Immunol*. 1997;158(2):905-12.
- 90. Zhou P, Lu S, Luo Y, Wang S, Yang K, Zhai Y, et al. Attenuation of TNF-alpha-Induced Inflammatory Injury in Endothelial Cells by Ginsenoside Rb1 via Inhibiting NF-kappaB, JNK and p38 Signaling Pathways. *Front Pharmacol.* 2017;8:464.
- Chiu JJ, Lee PL, Chen CN, Lee CI, Chang SF, Chen LJ, et al. Shear stress increases ICAM-1 and decreases VCAM-1 and E-selectin expressions induced by tumor necrosis factor-[alpha] in endothelial cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2004;24(1):73-9.
- Iademarco MF, Barks JL, Dean DC. Regulation of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression by IL-4 and TNF-alpha in cultured endothelial cells. *J Clin Invest*. 1995;95(1):264-71.

- Hur HJ, Lee AS. Protective Effect of Allium tuberosum Extract on Vascular Inflammation in Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha-induced Human Vascular Endothelial Cells. J Cancer Prev. 2017;22(4):228-33.
- Yan LJ, Yang HT, Duan HY, Wu JT, Qian P, Fan XW, et al. Cordycepin inhibits vascular adhesion molecule expression in TNF-alpha-stimulated vascular muscle cells. *Exp Ther Med.* 2017;14(3):2335-40.
- 95. Zhao W, Feng H, Guo S, Han Y, Chen X. Danshenol A inhibits TNF-alpha-induced expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) mediated by NOX4 in endothelial cells. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):12953.
- 96. Zhu L, Yang XP, Janic B, Rhaleb NE, Harding P, Nakagawa P, et al. Ac-SDKP suppresses TNF-alpha-induced ICAM-1 expression in endothelial cells via inhibition of IkappaB kinase and NF-kappaB activation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2016;310(9):H1176-83.
- 97. Han BH, Yoon JJ, Choi ES, Jeong DH, Lee YJ, Kang DG, et al. Inhibitory effect of brassinin on TNFalphainduced vascular inflammation in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Mol Med Rep.* 2017;16(5):6890-5.
- 98. Li M, van Esch B, Henricks PAJ, Garssen J, Folkerts G. Time and Concentration Dependent Effects of Short Chain Fatty Acids on Lipopolysaccharide- or Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha-Induced Endothelial Activation. *Front Pharmacol.* 2018;9:233.
- 99. Steyers CM, 3rd, Miller FJ, Jr. Endothelial dysfunction in chronic inflammatory diseases. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2014;15(7):11324-49.
- 100. Wohlfart P, Xu H, Endlich A, Habermeier A, Closs EI, Hubschle T, et al. Antiatherosclerotic effects of small-molecular-weight compounds enhancing

endothelial nitric-oxide synthase (eNOS) expression and preventing eNOS uncoupling. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 2008;325(2):370-9.

- Shaul PW. Regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase: location, location, location. *Annu Rev Physiol*. 2002;64:749-74.
- 102. Felaco M, Grilli A, De Lutiis MA, Patruno A, Libertini N, Taccardi AA, et al. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) expression and localization in healthy and diabetic rat hearts. *Ann Clin Lab Sci.* 2001;31(2):179-86.
- 103. Braam B, Verhaar MC. Understanding eNOS for pharmacological modulation of endothelial function: a translational view. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2007;13(17):1727-40.
- 104. SenBanerjee S, Lin Z, Atkins GB, Greif DM, Rao RM, Kumar A, et al. KLF2 Is a novel transcriptional regulator of endothelial proinflammatory activation. *J Exp Med*. 2004;199(10):1305-15.
- 105. Fleming I, Busse R. Molecular mechanisms involved in the regulation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2003;284(1):R1-12.
- 106. Gielis JF, Lin JY, Wingler K, Van Schil PE, Schmidt HH, Moens AL. Pathogenetic role of eNOS uncoupling in cardiopulmonary disorders. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2011;50(7):765-76.
- 107. Ertuna E, Loot AE, Fleming I, Yetik-Anacak G. The role of eNOS on the compensatory regulation of vascular tonus by H2S in mouse carotid arteries. *Nitric Oxide*. 2017;69:45-50.
- 108. Kim SM, Huh JW, Kim EY, Shin MK, Park JE, Kim SW, et al. Endothelial dysfunction induces atherosclerosis: increased aggrecan expression promotes apoptosis in vascular smooth muscle cells. *BMB Rep.* 2019;52(2):145-50.

- 109. Munzel T, Daiber A, Ullrich V, Mulsch A. Vascular consequences of endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncoupling for the activity and expression of the soluble guanylyl cyclase and the cGMP-dependent protein kinase. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2005;25(8):1551-7.
- Sun J, Deng H, Zhou Z, Xiong X, Gao L. Endothelium as a Potential Target for Treatment of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2018;2018:6306542.
- 111. Chen W, Xiao H, Rizzo AN, Zhang W, Mai Y, Ye M. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase dimerization is regulated by heat shock protein 90 rather than by phosphorylation. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(8):e105479.
- 112. Karbach S, Simon A, Slenzka A, Jaenecke I, Habermeier A, Martine U, et al. Relative contribution of different l-arginine sources to the substrate supply of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.* 2011;51(5):855-61.
- 113. Benson MA, Batchelor H, Chuaiphichai S, Bailey J, Zhu H, Stuehr DJ, et al. A pivotal role for tryptophan 447 in enzymatic coupling of human endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS): effects on tetrahydrobiopterin-dependent catalysis and eNOS dimerization. *J Biol Chem.* 2013;288(41):29836-45.
- 114. Forstermann U, Munzel T. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vascular disease: from marvel to menace. *Circulation*. 2006;113(13):1708-14.
- 115. Daiber A, Xia N, Steven S, Oelze M, Hanf A, Kroller-Schon S, et al. New Therapeutic Implications of Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase (eNOS) Function/Dysfunction in Cardiovascular Disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019;20(1).
- 116. Amour J, Brzezinska AK, Weihrauch D, Billstrom AR, Zielonka J, Krolikowski JG, et al. Role of heat shock protein 90 and endothelial nitric oxide synthase during early anesthetic and ischemic preconditioning. *Anesthesiology*. 2009;110(2):317-25.

- 117. Fulton D, Gratton JP, McCabe TJ, Fontana J, Fujio Y, Walsh K, et al. Regulation of endothelium-derived nitric oxide production by the protein kinase Akt. *Nature*. 1999;399(6736):597-601.
- 118. Marrero MB, Venema VJ, Ju H, He H, Liang H, Caldwell RB, et al. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase interactions with G-protein-coupled receptors. *Biochem J*. 1999;343 Pt 2:335-40.
- 119. Harris MB, Ju H, Venema VJ, Liang H, Zou R, Michell BJ, et al. Reciprocal phosphorylation and regulation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase in response to bradykinin stimulation. *J Biol Chem.* 2001;276(19):16587-91.
- 120. Zhang W, Feng J, Cheng B, Lu Q, Chen X. Oleanolic acid protects against oxidative stressinduced human umbilical vein endothelial cell injury by activating AKT/eNOS signaling. *Mol Med Rep.* 2018;18(4):3641-8.
- 121. Thomas SR, Chen K, Keaney JF, Jr. Hydrogen peroxide activates endothelial nitricoxide synthase through coordinated phosphorylation and dephosphorylation via a phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent signaling pathway. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(8):6017-24.
- 122. Abeyrathna P, Su Y. The critical role of Akt in cardiovascular function. *Vascul Pharmacol.* 2015;74:38-48.
- 123. Shi F, Wang YC, Zhao TZ, Zhang S, Du TY, Yang CB, et al. Effects of simulated microgravity on human umbilical vein endothelial cell angiogenesis and role of the PI3K-Akt-eNOS signal pathway. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(7):e40365.
- 124. Venema RC, Venema VJ, Ju H, Harris MB, Snead C, Jilling T, et al. Novel complexes of guanylate cyclase with heat shock protein 90 and nitric oxide synthase. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*. 2003;285(2):H669-78.

- 125. Sartoretto JL, Kalwa H, Shiroto T, Sartoretto SM, Pluth MD, Lippard SJ, et al. Role of Ca2+ in the control of H2O2-modulated phosphorylation pathways leading to eNOS activation in cardiac myocytes. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(9):e44627.
- Margaritis M, Channon KM, Antoniades C. Statins as regulators of redox state in the vascular endothelium: beyond lipid lowering. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2014;20(8):1198-215.
- 127. Tousoulis D, Kampoli AM, Tentolouris C, Papageorgiou N, Stefanadis C. The role of nitric oxide on endothelial function. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol*. 2012;10(1):4-18.
- 128. Li H, Oehrlein SA, Wallerath T, Ihrig-Biedert I, Wohlfart P, Ulshofer T, et al. Activation of protein kinase C alpha and/or epsilon enhances transcription of the human endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene. *Mol Pharmacol.* 1998;53(4):630-7.
- 129. Kuhlencordt PJ, Gyurko R, Han F, Scherrer-Crosbie M, Aretz TH, Hajjar R, et al. Accelerated atherosclerosis, aortic aneurysm formation, and ischemic heart disease in apolipoprotein E/endothelial nitric oxide synthase double-knockout mice. *Circulation*. 2001;104(4):448-54.
- 130. Creagh-Brown BC, Griffiths MJ, Evans TW. Bench-to-bedside review: Inhaled nitric oxide therapy in adults. *Crit Care*. 2009;13(3):221.
- 131. Grange RW, Isotani E, Lau KS, Kamm KE, Huang PL, Stull JT. Nitric oxide contributes to vascular smooth muscle relaxation in contracting fast-twitch muscles. *Physiol Genomics*. 2001;5(1):35-44.
- 132. Liu MQ, Chen Z, Chen LX. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: a novel mechanism and therapeutic target for cardiovascular diseases. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*. 2016;37(4):425-43.

- 133. Kosonen O, Kankaanranta H, Uotila J, Moilanen E. Inhibition by nitric oxidereleasing compounds of E-selectin expression in and neutrophil adhesion to human endothelial cells. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2000;394(1):149-56.
- 134. Wallerath T, Witte K, Schafer SC, Schwarz PM, Prellwitz W, Wohlfart P, et al. Down-regulation of the expression of endothelial NO synthase is likely to contribute to glucocorticoid-mediated hypertension. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1999;96(23):13357-62.
- 135. Matthys KE, Bult H. Nitric oxide function in atherosclerosis. *Mediators Inflamm*. 1997;6(1):3-21.
- 136. Tiwari R, Pathak K. Statins therapy: a review on conventional and novel formulation approaches. *J Pharm Pharmacol*. 2011;63(8):983-98.
- Ferri N, Corsini A. Clinical evidence of statin therapy in non-dyslipidemic disorders. *Pharmacol Res.* 2014;88:20-30.
- 138. Norata GD, Ballantyne CM, Catapano AL. New therapeutic principles in dyslipidaemia: focus on LDL and Lp(a) lowering drugs. *Eur Heart J*. 2013;34(24):1783-9.
- 139. Coimbra M, Banciu M, Fens MH, de Smet L, Cabaj M, Metselaar JM, et al. Liposomal pravastatin inhibits tumor growth by targeting cancer-related inflammation. *J Control Release*. 2010;148(3):303-10.
- 140. Barakat AF, Saad M, Abuzaid A, Mentias A, Mahmoud A, Elgendy IY. Perioperative Statin Therapy for Patients Undergoing Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting. Ann Thorac Surg. 2016;101(2):818-25.
- 141. Yang Q, Zhong Y, Gillespie C, Merritt R, Bowman B, George MG, et al. Assessing potential population impact of statin treatment for primary prevention of

atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases in the USA: population-based modelling study. *BMJ Open*. 2017;7(1):e011684.

- 142. Psarros C, Economou EK, Koutsilieris M, Antoniades C. Statins as Pleiotropic Modifiers of Vascular Oxidative Stress and Inflammation. J Crit Care Med (Targu Mures). 2015;1(2):43-54.
- 143. Stancu C, Sima A. Statins: mechanism of action and effects. J Cell Mol Med. 2001;5(4):378-87.
- 144. Lennernas H, Fager G. Pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors. Similarities and differences. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 1997;32(5):403-25.
- 145. Blumenthal RS. Statins: effective antiatherosclerotic therapy. Am Heart J. 2000;139(4):577-83.
- 146. Long-Term Intervention with Pravastatin in Ischaemic Disease Study G. Prevention of cardiovascular events and death with pravastatin in patients with coronary heart disease and a broad range of initial cholesterol levels. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(19):1349-57.
- 147. Rosenson RS. Rosuvastatin: a new inhibitor of HMG-coA reductase for the treatment of dyslipidemia. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther*. 2003;1(4):495-505.
- 148. Jones PH, Davidson MH, Stein EA, Bays HE, McKenney JM, Miller E, et al. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of rosuvastatin versus atorvastatin, simvastatin, and pravastatin across doses (STELLAR* Trial). Am J Cardiol. 2003;92(2):152-60.

- 149. Pincus J. Comparative dose efficacy study of atorvastatin versus simvastatin, pravastatin, lovastatin, and fluvastatin in patients with hypercholesterolemia (the CURVES study). Am J Cardiol. 1998;82(3):406-7.
- 150. Hoeke G, Wang Y, van Dam AD, Mol IM, Gart E, Klop HG, et al. Atorvastatin accelerates clearance of lipoprotein remnants generated by activated brown fat to further reduce hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*. 2017;267:116-26.
- 151. Brown AS, Bakker-Arkema RG, Yellen L, Henley RW, Jr., Guthrie R, Campbell CF, et al. Treating patients with documented atherosclerosis to National Cholesterol Education Program-recommended low-density-lipoprotein cholesterol goals with atorvastatin, fluvastatin, lovastatin and simvastatin. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1998;32(3):665-72.
- 152. Li X, Xiao H, Lin C, Sun W, Wu T, Wang J, et al. Synergistic effects of liposomes encapsulating atorvastatin calcium and curcumin and targeting dysfunctional endothelial cells in reducing atherosclerosis. *Int J Nanomedicine*. 2019;14:649-65.
- 153. Sever PS, Dahlof B, Poulter NR, Wedel H, Beevers G, Caulfield M, et al. Prevention of coronary and stroke events with atorvastatin in hypertensive patients who have average or lower-than-average cholesterol concentrations, in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial--Lipid Lowering Arm (ASCOT-LLA): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*. 2003;361(9364):1149-58.
- 154. Nohria A, Prsic A, Liu PY, Okamoto R, Creager MA, Selwyn A, et al. Statins inhibit Rho kinase activity in patients with atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*. 2009;205(2):517-21.
- 155. Minami T, Satoh K, Nogi M, Kudo S, Miyata S, Tanaka S, et al. Statins up-regulate SmgGDS through beta1-integrin/Akt1 pathway in endothelial cells. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2016;109(1):151-61.

- 156. Igarashi J, Miyoshi M, Hashimoto T, Kubota Y, Kosaka H. Statins induce S1P1 receptors and enhance endothelial nitric oxide production in response to high-density lipoproteins. *Br J Pharmacol*. 2007;150(4):470-9.
- 157. Ota H, Eto M, Kano MR, Kahyo T, Setou M, Ogawa S, et al. Induction of endothelial nitric oxide synthase, SIRT1, and catalase by statins inhibits endothelial senescence through the Akt pathway. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010;30(11):2205-11.
- 158. Loboda A, Jazwa A, Jozkowicz A, Dorosz J, Balla J, Molema G, et al. Atorvastatin prevents hypoxia-induced inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression but does not affect heme oxygenase-1 in human microvascular endothelial cells. *Atherosclerosis*. 2006;187(1):26-30.
- 159. Chen Q, Xiang J, Gong R, Fang HY, Xu CC, Zhang HZ, et al. Atorvastatin downregulates HSP22 expression in an atherosclerotic model in vitro and in vivo. *Int J Mol Med.* 2019;43(2):821-9.
- 160. Chang Y, Li Y, Ye N, Guo X, Li Z, Sun G, et al. Atorvastatin protects the proliferative ability of human umbilical vein endothelial cells inhibited by angiotensin II by changing mitochondrial energy metabolism. *Int J Mol Med.* 2018;41(1):33-42.
- 161. Zapolska-Downar D, Siennicka A, Kaczmarczyk M, Kolodziej B, Naruszewicz M. Simvastatin modulates TNFalpha-induced adhesion molecules expression in human endothelial cells. *Life Sci.* 2004;75(11):1287-302.
- 162. Bao XM, Wu CF, Lu GP. Atorvastatin attenuates homocysteine-induced apoptosis in human umbilical vein endothelial cells via inhibiting NADPH oxidase-related oxidative stress-triggered p38MAPK signaling. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2009;30(10):1392-8.

- 163. Ekstrand M, Gustafsson Trajkovska M, Perman-Sundelin J, Fogelstrand P, Adiels M, Johansson M, et al. Imaging of Intracellular and Extracellular ROS Levels in Atherosclerotic Mouse Aortas Ex Vivo: Effects of Lipid Lowering by Diet or Atorvastatin. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(6):e0130898.
- 164. Feng B, Xu L, Wang H, Yan X, Xue J, Liu F, et al. Atorvastatin exerts its antiatherosclerotic effects by targeting the receptor for advanced glycation end products. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2011;1812(9):1130-7.
- 165. Rezaie-Majd A, Maca T, Bucek RA, Valent P, Muller MR, Husslein P, et al. Simvastatin reduces expression of cytokines interleukin-6, interleukin-8, and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in circulating monocytes from hypercholesterolemic patients. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2002;22(7):1194-9.
- Greenwood J, Mason JC. Statins and the vascular endothelial inflammatory response. *Trends Immunol.* 2007;28(2):88-98.
- 167. Stroes ES, Thompson PD, Corsini A, Vladutiu GD, Raal FJ, Ray KK, et al. Statinassociated muscle symptoms: impact on statin therapy-European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel Statement on Assessment, Aetiology and Management. *Eur Heart J.* 2015;36(17):1012-22.
- Thompson PD, Panza G, Zaleski A, Taylor B. Statin-Associated Side Effects. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67(20):2395-410.
- 169. FDA Drug Safety Communication: Ongoing safety review of high-dose Zocor (simvastatin) and increased risk of muscle injury FDA U.S. FOOD & DRUG ADMINISTRATION6 August 2011 [Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/postmarket-drug-safety-information-patients-andproviders/fda-drug-safety-communication-ongoing-safety-review-high-dose-zocorsimvastatin-and-increased-risk.</u>

- 170. Bakker-Arkema RG, Davidson MH, Goldstein RJ, Davignon J, Isaacsohn JL, Weiss SR, et al. Efficacy and safety of a new HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, atorvastatin, in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. *JAMA*. 1996;275(2):128-33.
- 171. Dart A, Jerums G, Nicholson G, d'Emden M, Hamilton-Craig I, Tallis G, et al. A multicenter, double-blind, one-year study comparing safety and efficacy of atorvastatin versus simvastatin in patients with hypercholesterolemia. *Am J Cardiol.* 1997;80(1):39-44.
- 172. Buettner C, Rippberger MJ, Smith JK, Leveille SG, Davis RB, Mittleman MA. Statin use and musculoskeletal pain among adults with and without arthritis. *Am J Med.* 2012;125(2):176-82.
- 173. Dua P, Kang S, Shin HS, Kim S, Lee DK. Cell-SELEX-Based Identification of a Human and Mouse Cross-Reactive Endothelial Cell-Internalizing Aptamer. *Nucleic Acid Ther.* 2018;28(4):262-71.
- Ellington AD, Szostak JW. In vitro selection of RNA molecules that bind specific ligands. *Nature*. 1990;346(6287):818-22.
- 175. Song KM, Lee S, Ban C. Aptamers and their biological applications. *Sensors (Basel)*.2012;12(1):612-31.
- 176. Mascini M. Aptamers and their applications. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* 2008;390(4):987-8.
- 177. Dua P, Kim S, Lee DK. Nucleic acid aptamers targeting cell-surface proteins. *Methods*. 2011;54(2):215-25.
- 178. Nik Kamarudin NAA, Mohammed NA, Mustaffa KMF. Aptamer Technology: Adjunct Therapy for Malaria. *Biomedicines*. 2017;5(1).

- 179. Ruscito A, DeRosa MC. Small-Molecule Binding Aptamers: Selection Strategies, Characterization, and Applications. *Front Chem.* 2016;4:14.
- 180. Ulrich H, Magdesian MH, Alves MJ, Colli W. In vitro selection of RNA aptamers that bind to cell adhesion receptors of Trypanosoma cruzi and inhibit cell invasion. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(23):20756-62.
- 181. Ji K, Lim WS, Li SF, Bhakoo K. A two-step stimulus-response cell-SELEX method to generate a DNA aptamer to recognize inflamed human aortic endothelial cells as a potential in vivo molecular probe for atherosclerosis plaque detection. *Anal Bioanal Chem.* 2013;405(21):6853-61.
- 182. Boshtam M, Asgary S, Kouhpayeh S, Shariati L, Khanahmad H. Aptamers Against Pro- and Anti-Inflammatory Cytokines: A Review. *Inflammation*. 2017;40(1):340-9.
- 183. Yu X, Yu R, Yang X. Pattern recognition of enrichment levels of SELEX-based candidate aptamers for human C-reactive protein. *Biomed Tech (Berl)*. 2017;62(3):333-8.
- 184. Dougherty CA, Cai W, Hong H. Applications of aptamers in targeted imaging: state of the art. *Curr Top Med Chem.* 2015;15(12):1138-52.
- 185. Ray P, White RR. Aptamers for Targeted Drug Delivery. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)*. 2010;3(6):1761-78.
- 186. Muzykantov VR. Targeted therapeutics and nanodevices for vascular drug delivery: quo vadis? *IUBMB Life*. 2011;63(8):583-5.
- 187. Toth PP. Subclinical atherosclerosis: what it is, what it means and what we can do about it. *Int J Clin Pract*. 2008;62(8):1246-54.

- 188. Ji K, de Carvalho LP, Bi X, Seneviratnankn A, Bhakoo K, Chan M, et al. Highly sensitive and quantitative human thrombospondin-1 detection by an M55 aptasensor and clinical validation in patients with atherosclerotic disease. *Biosens Bioelectron*. 2014;55:405-11.
- 189. Damare J, Brandal S, Fortenberry YM. Inhibition of PAI-1 antiproteolytic activity against tPA by RNA aptamers. *Nucleic Acid Ther*. 2014;24(4):239-49.
- 190. Ojima A, Oda E, Higashimoto Y, Matsui T, Yamagishi S. DNA aptamer raised against advanced glycation end products inhibits neointimal hyperplasia in balloon-injured rat carotid arteries. *Int J Cardiol*. 2014;171(3):443-6.
- 191. Mann AP, Somasunderam A, Nieves-Alicea R, Li X, Hu A, Sood AK, et al. Identification of thioaptamer ligand against E-selectin: potential application for inflamed vasculature targeting. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(9).
- 192. Romanelli A, Affinito A, Avitabile C, Catuogno S, Ceriotti P, Iaboni M, et al. An anti-PDGFRbeta aptamer for selective delivery of small therapeutic peptide to cardiac cells. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(3):e0193392.
- 193. Kao WC, Chen YW, Chu CH, Chang WH, Shiesh SC, Wang YL, et al. Detection of C-reactive protein on an integrated microfluidic system by utilizing field-effect transistors and aptamers. *Biomicrofluidics*. 2017;11(4):044105.
- 194. Jarczewska M, Rebis J, Gorski L, Malinowska E. Development of DNA aptamerbased sensor for electrochemical detection of C-reactive protein. *Talanta*. 2018;189:45-54.
- 195. Poolsup S, Kim CY. Therapeutic applications of synthetic nucleic acid aptamers. *Curr Opin Biotechnol*. 2017;48:180-6.

- 196. Imanparast F, Paknejad M, Faramarzi MA, Kobarfard F, Amani A, Doosti M. Potential of mZD7349-conjugated PLGA nanoparticles for selective targeting of vascular cell-adhesion molecule-1 in inflamed endothelium. *Microvasc Res.* 2016;106:110-6.
- 197. Nguyen LTH, Muktabar A, Tang J, Dravid VP, Thaxton CS, Venkatraman S, et al. Engineered nanoparticles for the detection, treatment and prevention of atherosclerosis: how close are we? *Drug Discov Today*. 2017;22(9):1438-46.
- 198. Deosarkar SP, Malgor R, Fu J, Kohn LD, Hanes J, Goetz DJ. Polymeric particles conjugated with a ligand to VCAM-1 exhibit selective, avid, and focal adhesion to sites of atherosclerosis. *Biotechnol Bioeng*. 2008;101(2):400-7.
- 199. Dou Y, Chen Y, Zhang X, Xu X, Chen Y, Guo J, et al. Non-proinflammatory and responsive nanoplatforms for targeted treatment of atherosclerosis. *Biomaterials*. 2017;143:93-108.
- 200. Lee GY, Kim JH, Choi KY, Yoon HY, Kim K, Kwon IC, et al. Hyaluronic acid nanoparticles for active targeting atherosclerosis. *Biomaterials*. 2015;53:341-8.
- 201. Rosenholm JM, Sahlgren C, Linden M. Towards multifunctional, targeted drug delivery systems using mesoporous silica nanoparticles--opportunities & challenges. *Nanoscale*. 2010;2(10):1870-83.
- 202. Binsalamah ZM, Paul A, Prakash S, Shum-Tim D. Nanomedicine in cardiovascular therapy: recent advancements. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther*. 2012;10(6):805-15.
- 203. Krishna SM, Moxon JV, Jose RJ, Li J, Sahebkar A, Jaafari MR, et al. Anionic nanoliposomes reduced atherosclerosis progression in Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR) deficient mice fed a high fat diet. J Cell Physiol. 2018;233(10):6951-64.

- 204. Scott RC, Rosano JM, Ivanov Z, Wang B, Chong PL, Issekutz AC, et al. Targeting VEGF-encapsulated immunoliposomes to MI heart improves vascularity and cardiac function. *Faseb J*. 2009;23(10):3361-7.
- 205. Homem de Bittencourt PI, Jr., Lagranha DJ, Maslinkiewicz A, Senna SM, Tavares AM, Baldissera LP, et al. LipoCardium: endothelium-directed cyclopentenone prostaglandin-based liposome formulation that completely reverses atherosclerotic lesions. *Atherosclerosis*. 2007;193(2):245-58.
- 206. van der Valk FM, Schulte DM, Meiler S, Tang J, Zheng KH, Van den Bossche J, et al. Liposomal prednisolone promotes macrophage lipotoxicity in experimental atherosclerosis. *Nanomedicine*. 2016;12(6):1463-70.
- 207. Shi X, Wang Y, Varshney RR, Ren L, Zhang F, Wang DA. In-vitro osteogenesis of synovium stem cells induced by controlled release of bisphosphate additives from microspherical mesoporous silica composite. *Biomaterials*. 2009;30(23-24):3996-4005.
- 208. Garcia-Fernandez A, Garcia-Lainez G, Ferrandiz ML, Aznar E, Sancenon F, Alcaraz MJ, et al. Targeting inflammasome by the inhibition of caspase-1 activity using capped mesoporous silica nanoparticles. *J Control Release*. 2017;248:60-70.
- 209. Kang H, Zhang K, Wong DSH, Han F, Li B, Bian L. Near-infrared light-controlled regulation of intracellular calcium to modulate macrophage polarization. *Biomaterials*. 2018;178:681-96.
- 210. Geng H, Zhao Y, Liu J, Cui Y, Wang Y, Zhao Q, et al. Hollow mesoporous silica as a high drug loading carrier for regulation insoluble drug release. *Int J Pharm.* 2016;510(1):184-94.
- 211. Bauer AT, Strozyk EA, Gorzelanny C, Westerhausen C, Desch A, Schneider MF, et al. Cytotoxicity of silica nanoparticles through exocytosis of von Willebrand factor

and necrotic cell death in primary human endothelial cells. *Biomaterials*. 2011;32(33):8385-93.

- 212. Daminelli EN, Martinelli AE, Bulgarelli A, Freitas FR, Maranhao RC. Reduction of Atherosclerotic Lesions by the Chemotherapeutic Agent Carmustine Associated to Lipid Nanoparticles. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther*. 2016;30(5):433-43.
- 213. Ercan M, Ozalp VC, Tuna BG. Genotyping of single nucleotide polymorphism by probe-gated silica nanoparticles. *Anal Biochem*. 2017;537:78-83.
- Montiel Schneider MG, Lassalle VL. Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles as novel and efficient tools for atherosclerosis diagnosis. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 2017;93:1098-115.
- 215. Zhang J, Ma A, Shang L. Conjugating Existing Clinical Drugs With Gold Nanoparticles for Better Treatment of Heart Diseases. *Front Physiol*. 2018;9:642.
- 216. Uhl B, Hirn S, Mildner K, Coletti R, Massberg S, Reichel CA, et al. The surface chemistry determines the spatio-temporal interaction dynamics of quantum dots in atherosclerotic lesions. *Nanomedicine (Lond)*. 2018;13(6):623-38.
- 217. Matoba T, Egashira K. Nanoparticle-mediated drug delivery system for cardiovascular disease. *Int Heart J*. 2014;55(4):281-6.
- Liu X, Sun J. Endothelial cells dysfunction induced by silica nanoparticles through oxidative stress via JNK/P53 and NF-kappaB pathways. *Biomaterials*. 2010;31(32):8198-209.
- 219. Zhang W, An J, Jawadi H, Siow DL, Lee JF, Zhao J, et al. Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-2 mediated NFkappaB activation contributes to tumor necrosis factor-alpha induced VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 expression in endothelial cells. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*. 2013;106:62-71.

- 220. Oberoi R, Schuett J, Schuett H, Koch AK, Luchtefeld M, Grote K, et al. Targeting Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha with Adalimumab: Effects on Endothelial Activation and Monocyte Adhesion. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(7):e0160145.
- 221. Burke-Gaffney A, Hellewell PG. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha-induced ICAM-1 expression in human vascular endothelial and lung epithelial cells: modulation by tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Br J Pharmacol*. 1996;119(6):1149-58.
- 222. Krunkosky TM, Fischer BM, Martin LD, Jones N, Akley NJ, Adler KB. Effects of TNF-alpha on expression of ICAM-1 in human airway epithelial cells in vitro. Signaling pathways controlling surface and gene expression. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* 2000;22(6):685-92.
- 223. Dang H, Song B, Dong R, Zhang H. Atorvastatin reverses the dysfunction of human umbilical vein endothelial cells induced by angiotensin II. *Exp Ther Med.* 2018;16(6):5286-97.
- 224. Geng J, Xu H, Yu X, Xu G, Cao H, Lin G, et al. Rosuvastatin protects against oxidized lowdensity lipoproteininduced endothelial cell injury of atherosclerosis in vitro. *Mol Med Rep.* 2019;19(1):432-40.
- 225. Wang J, Xu Z, Kitajima I, Wang Z. Effects of different statins on endothelial nitric oxide synthase and AKT phosphorylation in endothelial cells. *Int J Cardiol.* 2008;127(1):33-9.
- 226. Rossoni LV, Wareing M, Wenceslau CF, Al-Abri M, Cobb C, Austin C. Acute simvastatin increases endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation via AMPactivated protein kinase and reduces contractility of isolated rat mesenteric resistance arteries. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. 2011;121(10):449-58.
- 227. Laufs U, La Fata V, Plutzky J, Liao JK. Upregulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by HMG CoA reductase inhibitors. *Circulation*. 1998;97(12):1129-35.

- 228. Antonopoulos AS, Margaritis M, Lee R, Channon K, Antoniades C. Statins as antiinflammatory agents in atherogenesis: molecular mechanisms and lessons from the recent clinical trials. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2012;18(11):1519-30.
- 229. Antonopoulos AS, Margaritis M, Shirodaria C, Antoniades C. Translating the effects of statins: from redox regulation to suppression of vascular wall inflammation. *Thromb Haemost*. 2012;108(5):840-8.
- 230. Li T, Li D, Xu H, Zhang H, Tang D, Cao H. Wen-Xin Decoction ameliorates vascular endothelium dysfunction via the PI3K/AKT/eNOS pathway in experimental atherosclerosis in rats. *BMC Complement Altern Med.* 2016;16:27.
- 231. Wang XL, Qi J, Shi YQ, Lu ZY, Li RL, Huang GJ, et al. Atorvastatin plus therapeutic ultrasound improve postnatal neovascularization in response to hindlimb ischemia via the PI3K-Akt pathway. *Am J Transl Res.* 2019;11(5):2877-86.
- 232. Yao Y, Li B, Fu C, Teng G, Ma G, Liu N. Anti-connective tissue growth factor detects and reduces plaque inflammation in early-stage carotid atherosclerotic lesions. *Nanomedicine*. 2017;13(8):2385-94.
- 233. Ibrar M, Khan MA, Abdullah, Imran M. Evaluation of Paeonia emodi and its gold nanoparticles for cardioprotective and antihyperlipidemic potentials. *J Photochem Photobiol B*. 2018;189:5-13.
- 234. Hadizadeh M, Fateh M. Synergistic Cytotoxic Effect of Gold Nanoparticles and 5-Aminolevulinic Acid-Mediated Photodynamic Therapy against Skin Cancer Cells. *Iran J Med Sci.* 2014;39(5):452-8.
- 235. Zhu ML, Wang G, Wang H, Guo YM, Song P, Xu J, et al. Amorphous nanoselenium quantum dots improve endothelial dysfunction in rats and prevent atherosclerosis in mice through Na(+)/H(+) exchanger 1 inhibition. *Vascul Pharmacol*. 2019.

- 236. Gomes FLT, Maranhao RC, Tavares ER, Carvalho PO, Higuchi ML, Mattos FR, et al. Regression of Atherosclerotic Plaques of Cholesterol-Fed Rabbits by Combined Chemotherapy With Paclitaxel and Methotrexate Carried in Lipid Core Nanoparticles. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther. 2018;23(6):561-9.
- 237. Meneghini BC, Tavares ER, Guido MC, Tavoni TM, Stefani HA, Kalil-Filho R, et al. Lipid core nanoparticles as vehicle for docetaxel reduces atherosclerotic lesion, inflammation, cell death and proliferation in an atherosclerosis rabbit model. *Vascul Pharmacol.* 2019.
- 238. Spyropoulos-Antonakakis N, Sarantopoulou E, Trohopoulos PN, Stefi AL, Kollia Z, Gavriil VE, et al. Selective aggregation of PAMAM dendrimer nanocarriers and PAMAM/ZnPc nanodrugs on human atheromatous carotid tissues: a photodynamic therapy for atherosclerosis. *Nanoscale Res Lett.* 2015;10:210.
- Zavaleta C, Ho D, Chung EJ. Theranostic Nanoparticles for Tracking and Monitoring Disease State. SLAS Technol. 2018;23(3):281-93.
- 240. Poon C, Gallo J, Joo J, Chang T, Banobre-Lopez M, Chung EJ. Hybrid, metal oxidepeptide amphiphile micelles for molecular magnetic resonance imaging of atherosclerosis. *J Nanobiotechnology*. 2018;16(1):92.
- 241. Woodside DG, Tanifum EA, Ghaghada KB, Biediger RJ, Caivano AR, Starosolski ZA, et al. Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Atherosclerotic Plaque at Clinically Relevant Field Strengths (1T) by Targeting the Integrin alpha4beta1. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):3733.
- 242. Li Y, Liu J, Huang JW, Song JC, Ma ZL, Shi HB. In vivo MRI detection of atherosclerosis in ApoE-deficient mice by using tenascin-C-targeted USPIO. *Acta Radiol*. 2018;59(12):1431-7.

- 243. Meng N, Gong Y, Zhang J, Mu X, Song Z, Feng R, et al. A novel curcumin-loaded nanoparticle restricts atherosclerosis development and promotes plaques stability in apolipoprotein E deficient mice. *J Biomater Appl.* 2019;33(7):946-54.
- 244. Chung EJ. Targeting and therapeutic peptides in nanomedicine for atherosclerosis. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. 2016;241(9):891-8.
- 245. Khodabandehlou K, Masehi-Lano JJ, Poon C, Wang J, Chung EJ. Targeting cell adhesion molecules with nanoparticles using in vivo and flow-based in vitro models of atherosclerosis. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. 2017;242(8):799-812.
- 246. Chung EJ, Tirrell M. Recent Advances in Targeted, Self-Assembling Nanoparticles to Address Vascular Damage Due to Atherosclerosis. *Adv Healthc Mater*. 2015;4(16):2408-22.
- 247. Chung EJ, Mlinar LB, Nord K, Sugimoto MJ, Wonder E, Alenghat FJ, et al. Monocyte-targeting supramolecular micellar assemblies: a molecular diagnostic tool for atherosclerosis. *Adv Healthc Mater*. 2015;4(3):367-76.
- 248. Kelly KA, Allport JR, Tsourkas A, Shinde-Patil VR, Josephson L, Weissleder R. Detection of vascular adhesion molecule-1 expression using a novel multimodal nanoparticle. *Circ Res.* 2005;96(3):327-36.
- 249. Krishna SM, Moxon JV, Jose RJ, Li J, Sahebkar A, Jaafari MR, et al. Anionic nanoliposomes reduced atherosclerosis progression in Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor (LDLR) deficient mice fed a high fat diet. *J Cell Physiol*. 2018.
- 250. Garnacho C, Serrano D, Muro S. A fibrinogen-derived peptide provides intercellular adhesion molecule-1-specific targeting and intraendothelial transport of polymer nanocarriers in human cell cultures and mice. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 2012;340(3):638-47.

- 251. Aanei IL, Huynh T, Seo Y, Francis MB. Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-Targeted MS2 Viral Capsids for the Detection of Early-Stage Atherosclerotic Plaques. *Bioconjug Chem.* 2018;29(8):2526-30.
- 252. Calin M, Stan D, Schlesinger M, Simion V, Deleanu M, Constantinescu CA, et al. VCAM-1 directed target-sensitive liposomes carrying CCR2 antagonists bind to activated endothelium and reduce adhesion and transmigration of monocytes. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm.* 2015;89:18-29.
- 253. Rink JS, Sun W, Misener S, Wang JJ, Zhang ZJ, Kibbe MR, et al. Nitric Oxide-Delivering High-Density Lipoprotein-like Nanoparticles as a Biomimetic Nanotherapy for Vascular Diseases. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. 2018;10(8):6904-16.
- 254. Robbins GP, Saunders RL, Haun JB, Rawson J, Therien MJ, Hammer DA. Tunable leuko-polymersomes that adhere specifically to inflammatory markers. *Langmuir*. 2010;26(17):14089-96.
- 255. Nakhlband A, Eskandani M, Saeedi N, Ghafari S, Omidi Y, Barar J, et al. Marrubiinloaded solid lipid nanoparticles' impact on TNF-alpha treated umbilical vein endothelial cells: A study for cardioprotective effect. *Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces*. 2018;164:299-307.